
CABINET 

6 March 2017

7.00 pm

Town Hall Watford

Publication date: 24 February 2017

Contact
If you require further information or you would like a copy of this agenda in another format, 
e.g. large print, please contact Caroline Harris Democratic Services Manager on 01923 278372 
or by email – legalanddemocratic@watford.gov.uk .

mailto:legalanddemocratic@watford.gov.uk


Welcome to this meeting.  We hope you find these notes useful.

Access

Access to the Town Hall after 5.15 pm is via the Customer Service Centre.

Visitors may park in the staff car park after 4.00 p.m.  This is a Pay and Display car park.  
From 1 April 2016 the flat rate charge is £2.00.  

The Committee Rooms are on the first floor of the Town Hall and a lift is available.
Induction loops are available in the Committee Rooms.

Toilets (including disabled)

Toilets are situated on the first floor, near the Committee Rooms.

Fire / Emergency instructions

In the event of a fire alarm sounding, vacate the building immediately following the 
instructions given by the Democratic Services Officer.

 Do not use the lifts
 Do not stop to collect personal belongings
 Go to the assembly point at the Pond and wait for further instructions
 Do not re-enter the building until authorised to do so.

Mobile Phones

Please ensure that mobile phones are switched off or on silent before the start of the 
meeting.

Filming / Photography / Recording / Reporting

Please note: this meeting might be filmed / photographed / recorded / reported by a party 
other than Watford Borough Council for subsequent broadcast or publication.

If you do not wish to have your image / voice captured you should let the Chair or 
Democratic Services Officer know before the start of the meeting.

An audio recording may be taken at this meeting for administrative purposes only.



Cabinet Membership

Mayor D Thornhill (Chair)
Councillor P Taylor (Deputy Mayor)
Councillors K Collett, S Johnson, I Sharpe and M Watkin

Agenda

Part A – Open to the Public

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Disclosure of Interest (if any) 

3. Minutes of previous meeting 

The minutes of the meeting held on 6 February 2017 to be submitted and signed.

Copies of the minutes of this meeting are usually available seven working days 
following the meeting.

(All minutes are available on the Council’s website.)

4. Conduct of meeting 

The Cabinet may wish to consider whether there are any items on which there is 
general agreement which could be considered now, to enable discussion to focus 
on those items where the Cabinet sees a need for further debate.

5. Review of Corporate Plan 2020: revised for 2017/18 (Pages 5 - 36)

Report of Managing Director

6. Local Plan Part 2 Submission (Pages 37 - 98)

Report of Deputy Managing Director and Director of Place Shaping and 
Performance

7. Installation of telecommunications equipment on council-owned buildings. 
(Pages 99 - 102)

Report of Interim Head of Transformation

http://watford.moderngov.co.uk/mgCalendarMonthView.aspx?GL=1&bcr=1


8. Neighbourhood Forums - follow up to Cabinet discussions on 5 December 2016 
(Pages 103 - 134)

Report of Committee and Scrutiny Support Officer following working group 
meeting

9. Exclusion of press and public 

The Chair to move: that, under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 
1972, the public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following item of 
business as it is likely, in the view of the nature of the business to be transacted or 
the nature of the proceedings, that if members of the public were present during 
consideration of the item there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in section 100(1) of the Act for the reasons stated below in 
terms of Schedule 12A.

Note: if approved, the Chair will ask members of the press and public to leave 
the meeting at this point.

10. Pilot Modular Building Project 

Report of Deputy Managing Director and Director of Place Shaping and Corporate 
Performance

This report is considered Part B in accordance with paragraph 3 Part 1 Schedule 
12A as the information contained within the report relates to the financial and 
business affairs of the council.



PART A 

Report to: Cabinet

Date of meeting: 6 March 2017

Report of: Managing Director 

Title: Review of Corporate Plan 2020:  revised for 2017/18 

1.0 Summary

1.1 This report presents the council’s revised Corporate Plan 2020.

1.2 Last year, the council undertook a fundamental review of its corporate 
framework including its vision, priorities and values.  The revised vision, priorities 
and values underpinned a refreshed Corporate Plan, which established the 
council’s direction and corporate programme of work to 2020.  

1.3 Over the last year, the council has focused on progressing work identified within 
the Corporate Plan and reviewed progress on what it set out to achieve during 
year 1 of the plan -  2016/17. It has also considered emerging challenges and 
opportunities, in order to ensure the plan continues to reflect the council’s 
ambitions for the town and the organisation to 2020. 

1.4 Through this process, a number of new areas for inclusion in the corporate work 
programme have been identified. These are now reflected in the draft Corporate 
Plan 2020 for next year – attached at Appendix A, which is presented for 
consideration and approval.

2.0 Recommendations 

2.1 To note the revised draft Corporate Plan 2020 and recommend it to Council 
(Appendix A).

2.2 To note that the corporate work programme within the plan will underpin service 
plans and staff’s individual work programmes as set out in their annual 
performance development reviews.

2.3 To note the corporate work programme set out in the plan will be monitored 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



through the year.

Contact Officer:
For further information on this report please contact:  Kathryn Robson
telephone extension:     8077                e-mail: kathryn.robson@watford.gov.uk

Report approved by: 

Manny Lewis, Managing Director

Page 6

mailto:kathryn.robson@watford.gov.uk


 

3.0 Detailed Proposal 

As part of its business planning cycle, the council undertakes an annual review of 
its corporate planning framework (the organisation’s vision, priorities and values) 
and its Corporate Plan. Through this process the council reviews, and agrees, 
what is important for the town and the organisation over the medium-term and 
where it should focus resources to deliver good quality services to our 
community and real improvements to the borough.

The Corporate Plan is, therefore, the council’s key planning document, which 
underpins its corporate programme of work and by which it can measure its 
achievements. From the plan the council develops its service plans which, in turn, 
inform the work programme of each team within the council and the individual 
objectives of each member of staff, identified through our annual performance 
development review process.

3.1 Corporate Plan 2020 – reviewed for 2017/18

3.1.1 A revised council vision, priorities and values were agreed last year to provide 
direction for the organisation to 2020 – see pages 6-7 of Appendix A. These 
shaped the Corporate Plan for the medium term (the next four years) but with 
acknowledgement that an annual review of the plan needs to be undertaken to 
identify:

 what has been achieved (and can, therefore, be removed from the 
corporate work programme)

 work that is still in progress and needs to be carried forward (with 
appropriate updates to reflect the milestones achieved during the past 12 
months)

 new areas of work, based on the emerging challenges and opportunities 
for the council, that should be included in the revised corporate work 
programme.

3.1.2 One new area of work set out in next year’s plans is the Watford 2020 
transformation programme – see page 5.  This was initiated during 2016/17 and 
five distinct work streams are now established to support the overall 
transformation that is the underlying ambition of the programme.  Each of the 
work streams (Digital Watford, Service Innovations, Commercialism, 
Accommodation Review and effective supporting strategies – such as ICT and HR) 
is now identified in the corporate work programme.

 

3.2 Delivery and monitoring

3.2.1 To support the implementation of the Corporate Plan a detailed delivery plan is 

Page 7



 
being developed.  This delivery plan ‘sits beneath’ the plan and sets out how the 
projects and development areas within the plan will be delivered in the short-
term (2017/18).  It contains quarterly milestones, identifies the key staff 
resources that will be required to ensure effective project delivery and outlines 
how the organisation will measure success at the end of 2017/18. This delivery 
plan informs service planning and quarterly monitoring and is, therefore, 
adaptable across a number of the council’s business planning and monitoring 
processes.  

3.2.2 The council has also established a range of governance procedures to support the 
monitoring of its corporate work programme.  These include Portfolio Holder 
reviews, Programme Management Board (PMB), Digital Watford Board and the 
Finance Review Board.

4.0 Implications

4.1 Financial

4.1.1 The importance of securing the council’s financial future is a priority within the 
Corporate Plan and work to achieve this is outlined under this priority, including 
the council’s drive to develop a more commercial approach through an agreed 
commercialisation strategy. The council has developed a Medium Term Financial 
Strategy, which supports the synergy between its financial and corporate 
planning and identifies how the council will make sure it links its financial 
decisions to the delivery of the Corporate Plan.  

4.2 Legal Issues (Monitoring Officer)

4.2.1 The Head of Democracy and Governance comments that the Corporate Plan is 
one of the policy framework documents listed in the constitution that has to be 
approved by Council.  The current plan will be presented to Council in March.

4.3 Equalities

4.3.1 An EIA has been developed and addresses the council’s public sector equality 
duty under s149 of the Equality Act 2010 
The Corporate Plan is informed by the Watford context, including an 
understanding of the demographic make-up of the borough’s community and 
feedback from local people on the issues that are important to them. An overall 
equality impact analysis has been undertaken on the Corporate Plan and impact 
analyses will be undertaken on specific projects/programmes where relevant. 

Page 8



 

4.4 Risks

4.4.1 Potential Risk Likelihoo
d

Impact Overall 
score

The council’s corporate plan and its Medium 
Term Financial Strategy work together to 
achieve outcomes identified within the plan. 
Failure to link the two effectively might result in 
insufficient financial resourcing for areas of 
work identified or failure to meet financial 
targets. 

1 4 4

The council has acknowledged the importance 
of the organisation taking ownership of its 
corporate planning framework to ensure there 
is commitment to delivery and that targets are 
achieved.  Failure to achieve this ‘buy-in’ could 
delay projects and programmes and impact on 
overall deliver. A full communications plan is 
being developed to engage and communicate 
with staff. 

2 4 8

The Corporate Plan represents a significant 
programme of work.  The organisation needs to 
understand the interdependencies of the areas 
of work identified and their call on time / 
resources.  Failure to do so effectively would 
risk delivery. 

2 4 8

The Corporate Plan represents a significant 
programme of work.  There is potential for 
slippage and failure to meet milestones without 
robust project and programme management.  

2 4 8

4.5 Staffing

4.5.1 The Corporate Plan is a key document for staff and provides an important part of 
the council’s performance framework that supports services to develop their own 
delivery plans, which in turn inform individual staff objectives and outcomes. The 
corporate values, which form part of the corporate planning framework, provide 
staff with clear expectations on the way we work and the behaviours we expect.

An ‘at a glance’ version of the plan will be developed to promote easy access by 

Page 9



 
staff and to build greater understanding and ownership.

Appendix A:  Corporate Plan 2020 (revised: 2017/18)

Page 10



1 

 

 

 

 

 

MAKING 

WATFORD 

BOLD & PROGRESSIVE 
 

 

Watford Borough Council’s 

Corporate Plan to 2020 
 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

2017/18 

Page 11



2 

 

 

Introduction to our Corporate Plan 
Last year we introduced our new vision, priorities and values for Watford and 

made a clear statement about our ambitions for the town to 2020. 

 

Over the past year, we have lived up to our values of being ‘bold’ and ‘progressive’ 

and have made great progress in delivering the commitments set out in our 

Corporate Plan.  At the same time we have taken time to look at our emerging 

opportunities and challenges and reviewed this plan to make sure we are still on 

the right course for Watford and the council. 

 

Our service improvement proposals, which we highlighted in last year’s Plan, are making great strides but we 

realised that we could achieve even more by bringing together our digital plans for the council and the town 

into an overall transformation programme, which we have called ‘Watford 2020’.  Our customers are at the 

heart of Watford 2020 as is our determination to retain the high quality services that residents value  

 

We have included our drive to secure our financial future in Watford 2020 as the programme is critical to 

making sure we are in a good position financially by the time the money we get from government ends in 

three years’ time. This involves what we are doing to be a more business-like council and ensuring all our 

services are as cost effective and efficient as possible.  It is also sets us the task of making sure we maximise 

our income and are getting the best use out of our property assets. 

 

The town’s major projects are making great strides but remain a critical area for focus as delivery is vital to the 

on-going success and prosperity of the town.  Over the lifetime of this Plan we will see some of the 

transformational projects we have been driving and supporting come to fruition including the exciting 

development at Intu and Watford Health Campus.  Last year, we marked a fantastic milestone for the Campus 

with the opening of the new road to Watford General Hospital and the start of the first business zone which 

will deliver new jobs to the town later this year.   

 

Watford continues to be a place where people want to be.  This doesn’t happen by accident, keeping 

somewhere vibrant, attractive and welcoming takes effort and really bold forward -thinking. Sometimes, the 

decisions are difficult and certainly not universally popular.  What is important is that, as a council, we have 

recognised that change will happen to the town, whether we get involved or not.  Our role is to ensure this 

change or growth is shaped in the best way possible and that it brings real benefits to the town.  A good 

example, is Intu and the fantastic new centre that will be opening next year – by working with Intu, the council 

has facilitated a town centre cinema, which local people said was a priority for Watford.   Other benefits 

include generating money to invest in our parks and open spaces and sports and leisure facilities. 

 

A key theme throughout this Plan is the importance we place on communicating with our residents and 

community and ensuring you have every opportunity to feedback to us and share your views.  I, along with 

your local councillors, welcome hearing from you and would encourage you to get involved in shaping our 

plans and decisions. 

 

As ever, if you have any comments on the Corporate Plan, our plans,  major projects or the Council, then email 

me on themayor@watford.gov.uk or call 01923 226400 and ask for the Mayor’s office. 

 

 
 

Baroness Dorothy Thornhill MBE  

Elected Mayor of Watford 

 

Page 12



Shaping our Corporate Plan 

Our Corporate Plan sets out our ambitions for Watford and how we will deliver these commitments by 2020.  

It is underpinned by our corporate vision, values and objectives as well as the  Mayor’s priorities for the town 

during her fourth term  in office. 

As our organisation’s key strategic programme, the Corporate Plan sets our direction and programme of work 

for the medium term. For 2017, whilst we have undertaken a review of our corporate projects and areas of 

work, we are building on last year’s plan making sure that we capture our achievements as well as carrying 

forward areas of work still to be completed.  At the same time our review enables us to identify new and 

emerging projects that support our vision and deliver our priorities. 
 

Through our review we remain committed to some key principles in shaping what we do: 

• we cannot meet the financial challenge and the opportunities to be more commercial and 

entrepreneurial without making fundamental changes to the way we do business 

•  we cannot afford to scale back our ambition for the borough and the Council. 

• we need to be more creative, innovative and resilient if we want to continue to be successful as we go 

forward. 

 

Watford is changing  

We know Watford is changing.  Its success as a town means it is an extremely popular place to live, work and 

visit.  This means the pace of economic and population growth is high.  This has impacted on house and rental 

prices over the last few years and housing is now certainly top of the challenges we need to address as a 

council.  We also know we have a shifting demographic, with a growing young, diverse population, and rising 

pressure on local infrastructure and services. We will be a town of 100,000 people this year. 

 

Additionally, the expectations of our communities continue to rise; they expect high quality and responsive 

services and a Council that is prepared to listen to them and deliver services not just in office hours but in 

many cases 24/7.  The pace of life is fast, supported by new technologies, and citizens expect their councils to 

modernise in line with the opportunities new technologies bring. 

We are committed not just to keeping up with change but to look to the leading edge of what new technology 

can deliver where it supports our goals.  

 

Fulfilling our ambitions 

Our Corporate Plan needs to reflect how we can seize every opportunity that comes our way to deliver new 

homes, create jobs and opportunities for our residents and to make economic growth work for Watford so 

that our residents can benefit and share in our borough’s success.  We need to understand how we can secure 

our own finances and protect services we know are important to residents whilst also ensuring we listen and 

respond to our community in a way that meets their needs. We need to ensure  that housing growth takes 

place in sustainable locations with appropriate infrastructure in place and that the Town’s character and 

residential areas are protected. 

 

Page 13



4 

 

A critical driver for this Corporate Plan is our need to respond to the government’s on-going reduction in 

funding to local government with the removal of revenue support grant by 2020.  The revenue support grant 

has been an integral part of funding for local government for many years and so this presents a real step 

change for all councils.  For Watford Borough Council, it means a loss of around of £3million of revenue (on 

top of the £5million worth of savings we have already had to make since 2010), which was a significant 

proportion of our budget (see pages 21-23) for details of our budget and financial planning). However, it also 

means that, if we get it right, we have the opportunity to plan and manage our finances in a way that is no 

longer dependent on central government funding decisions which means our financial future is very much in 

our own hands. 

 

Everything we outline in this Plan is informed and influenced by our requirement to secure our financial future 

without diminishing our ambitions.  This is why it is so important that this Plan sits alongside our Medium 

Term Financial Strategy. Together they set out how we will establish the basis to  deliver on our key priorities, 

which will maintain Watford as an exceptional borough providing opportunities for all that live, work  and visit 

here.   

 

This Corporate Plan, therefore, responds to our new vision by challenging us to continue to be bold and 

progressive, despite the constraints,  so that we create the environment the Council needs to thrive and fulfil 

its ambitions for the town. 

 

We will need to be an excellent organisation 

To do these things and to do them well, we will need to maintain and achieve  high performance across all of 

our functions.  We need to have the people, skills and key infrastructure, such as IT systems, in place so that 

we can be dynamic and responsive, fast and flexible, innovative and creative.  We also want to be outward 

looking as an organisation, engaging with our communities and building partnerships across the private, public 

and voluntary sectors that support us in delivering for the town. For our staff, this Corporate Plan provides the 

direction on how they can contribute to the town and the Council’s success and challenges them to look at 

how they work to see if there are new and better ways to deliver services. 

In the last year, our transformational Watford 2020 programme has set us on a clear path to delivering this 

excellence.  We have engaged with our staff and members on what this means for them as to be successful we 

know everyone needs to be involved and play their part. 

 

How we will deliver  

This plan outlines how we will deliver our priorities whilst ensuring we maintain the high quality we have 

achieved in delivering our core areas of business such as waste and recycling, street cleaning, revenues and 

benefits and planning performance.  Indeed, ensuring we manage performance across the Council so that our 

key business areas provide the service levels our residents expect is a key theme underpinning everything set 

out in this plan. The Watford 2020 programme is the overarching transformation plan: 

 

 

Page 14



5 

 

 

OUR WATFORD 2020 PROGRAMME

Through our Watford 2020 programme we are embarking on a major change and 
improvement journey.   This programme isn’t just about transforming how the council 
operates, but also providing a digital infrastructure for our town that provides local 
businesses with a competitive advantage and enhances the quality of life of residents.

A programme plan for Watford 2020 has been developed and includes four streams of 
work:

Digital Watford – we are delivering a series of projects that are focused on creating an 
effective digital infrastructure within and outside the Council; transforming how Council 
services are provided and ensuring Watford businesses and residents have access to the 
technology and skills to maximise opportunities.

Service Innovations – we are embarking on a programme of service reviews to streamline 
council services ensuring they are joined up, digital and customer focused.

Commercialism – we are positioning the Council to generate income by functioning as a 
commercially astute business with an entrepreneurial approach to developing new 
opportunities whilst remaining faithful to our core values.

Accommodation review - we are looking at the Town Hall complex to make sure we are 
making the most of it as an asset, seeing if there is scope to share our buildings and if we 
could design it better to support more efficient working.

Supporting Strategies – we are developing and initiating a range of strategies to ensure 
the culture, skills, communication and technology is in place to deliver the ambitions of 
the programme.

Page 15



6 

 

Part One 
The Council’s Vision, Priorities and Values 

 

Our vision reflects our approach to the current challenges and opportunities facing the Council as an 

organisation and the town as a place to live, work, visit and study.  We want to champion our town so that it is a 

place where all our communities thrive and prosper, benefitting from strong economic growth and good quality 

local services and facilities. This will require the Council to be innovative and explore new ways of working and 

champion initiatives that will transform the town and the organisation.  More of the same isn’t going to secure 

the future we want for Watford, which is why bold and progressive lie at the heart of our ambitions. 

 

Supporting this vision, the Council has 5 priority areas of work.   Our priorities are critical to the Council 

achieving successful outcomes for its ambitions for the town. 

1. Identify ways to manage the borough’s housing needs 

 

2. Champion smart growth and economic prosperity 

 

3. Provide for our vulnerable and disadvantaged communities 

 

4. Deliver a digital Watford to empower our community 

 

5. Secure our own financial future 

 

In addition, our core, day to day business underpins everything we do and all of our work and effort contribute 

to our success. In particular, we recognise the importance of 3 key areas in making us an effective organisation, 

in touch with our residents and delivering in the areas and in a way that they expect.  These are:   

 

• Effective two-way engagement and communication 

• Sound management and high performance 

• Improving the town’s environment. 

 

 

Our revised corporate values reflect the behaviour we expect our staff to demonstrate in their work and clearly 

establish how they contribute to delivering our new vision. 

 

1. BOLD:  We work as a team and we make things happen 

 

2. PROGRESSIVE: We are ambitious, we are innovative and we are welcoming 

 

Our values focus on taking forward our new corporate agenda.  We are more confident that the behaviours of  

being fair, showing integrity, and being inclusive are now embedded across the organisation.

OUR VISION:   To create a bold and progressive future for Watford

OUR FIVE PRIORITIES:

OUR VALUES:

Page 16



7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

OUR CORPORATE FRAMEWORK

Page 17



8 

 

Part Two 
Watford today 
Watford is a place to be proud of, and as a council, we plan to keep it that way. We value our clean streets, 

well-kept parks, and places for children to play, the vibrant high street and diverse range of activities and 

facilities across our borough.  We have a diverse and cohesive community who add to the vibrancy of our town 

and our residents are generally satisfied with the Council and their local services. Understanding our town and 

our community helps us to identify what shapes Watford and the challenges and opportunities we face as a 

council to champion our town. 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Population:  96,400 over an area of 8.5 sq. miles 

Young population:  average age 36.46 years 

Diverse population: 38% BME 

Voted 9
th

 happiest place to live in the country 

High growth in house prices and demand: 

Most in demand place to live on the tube map (2015) 

39,052 households 

Average household size:  2.46 people 

High proportion of single person households: 31% 

High number of households in rental 

accommodation: 37% 

8 Green Flag award winning parks 

 

5
th

 best connected borough in UK - M1, M25, West Coast Mainline, Overground, Underground 

Direct services to London Euston in 16 mins 

 

3,500 businesses     57,000 jobs  

Low unemployment / high level of qualifications 

48% of Watford employment is in Knowledge Sectors 

12.7% self-employment rate 

72% of residents are satisfied with how Watford BC runs things (2
nd

 highest in Hertfordshire: 2015) 

Career Builders:  Singles and couples in their 20s and 30s progressing in their field 

of work from commutable properties – most common MOSAIC group: 12% 

 

 

 

 

Page 18



9 

 

Part Three 
How we will deliver our priorities 

 
Watford is a popular place to live.  Its location close to London, great road and rail links, good schools and 

employment opportunities have seen demand for homes in the town increase over recent years.  However, it 

has also meant rising house prices and rental costs, which has put affordability under pressure. 

As demand and housing costs rise, we have seen unparalleled numbers of people presenting at the Council 

with housing issues and the solutions available to us have been severely under pressure. We have already 

started some innovative work to tackle the supply of housing available, particularly affordable housing and 

additional temporary accommodation for those in urgent need, including setting up a joint venture with the 

Watford Community Housing Trust to deliver new homes.    

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Highlights of what we have achieved so far: 

• 245 homes delivered (2015-16) 

• Supply of sites for 13.4 years identified 

• ‘Skyline – Watford’s Approach to Taller Buildings’ approved to set out our approach to taller buildings, 

including design criteria; tall buildings modelled to understand impact on townscape 

 

• Joint Venture Companies with Watford Community Housing Trust established and first project to deliver 

temporary accommodation and new homes progressed (Tolpits Lane) 

• Modular temporary accommodation solution to deliver cost effective temporary accommodation 

identified  

 

• Proposals for the first homes on Watford Health Campus submitted (Willow Lane) following engagement 

with local community on the plans 

1. Identify ways to manage the borough's housing needs

Our challenges  

• Over-heated housing market – high demand and high prices 

• High use of temporary accommodation 

• Affordability under pressure 

• High rental costs 

• Overcrowding and deteriorating standards in rental homes 

• Growing population 

• Limited space in the borough for new homes 

• Household and demographic changes  

 
Our opportunities 

• New models of delivery including the joint venture 

• Strategic sites identified for the delivery of new homes 

• Innovative solutions to achieving our new homes target 

Page 19



10 

 

We will continue to deliver this priority by: 

• Supporting the continuing delivery of the Council’s target of 260 new homes per annum 

 

• Delivering the next phase of our Local Plan so that it reflects the borough’s housing needs 

• Completing the first new homes and temporary accommodation (including 40 homes at Tolpits 

Lane) delivered through the Hart Homes Joint Venture and explore further opportunities  

• Securing planning approval and completing the delivery of the modular temporary accommodation  

• Updating planning policy statements on affordable housing  

• Working with our Watford Health Campus partners on the delivery of new homes at the Willow Lane and 

Riverside zones, including securing affordable homes 

 

• Securing new homes, including affordable homes as part of the town’s major projects including the 

Western Gateway, Watford Junction and further homes on Watford Health Campus and on other potential 

sites such as appropriate  garage sites  

 

• Delivering the Housing Improvement Plan to  

o Deliver a step change in service delivery through new ways of working, better business processes, 

a review of service  structure and roles, improved communications and stakeholder involvement 

and new pathways for service users 

o Deliver a review of housing-related policies (Nominations Policy, Homelessness Strategy and 

Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy) 

o Respond to the Homeless Reduction Bill requirements 

o Undertake move of Disabled Facilities Grant to Hertfordshire County Council  

o Maximise access to available funding 

o Improve temporary accommodation income collection 

o Ensure fit for purpose and cost effective temporary accommodation provision 

o Access new private sector provision 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 20



11 

 

 
 

Watford has been extremely successful in building a strong local economy.  By being forward thinking and 

having the right plans in place, we have secured local employment, retained businesses and remain an 

attractive place for investment.   We have also ensured that the growth has delivered real benefits for the 

town (such as a new regional shopping centre being built which will house the town’s first IMAX cinema) and 

generated money to support local services.  

The Council has played its part through its own investment in the town, such as the improvements to 

Cassiobury Park (in partnership with the Heritage Lottery Fund and Big Lottery Fund), all our other parks and 

open spaces (with a record number of Green Flags), and by securing the right partnerships to take forward 

some of our major projects such as Charter Place (Intu), Watford Business Park and Watford Health Campus.  

Even with so much achieved, we know the town cannot stand still if it wants to remain successful and 

prosperous.  As a council we want to shape our town, which is why we are proud of our Local Plan that clearly 

sets out our commitment to well-planned and managed growth – without this we would be at risk of poor 

quality, unplanned developments and unchecked back filling.  This is what happens in some other areas. But 

we know smart growth also means addressing issues such as congestion and parking, which are important to 

local people so securing the right infrastructure to support growth is vitally important.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2. Champion smart growth and economic prosperity

Our challenges 

• Competing demands for land within the borough 

• Limited land for any new housing / new business / industrial space 

• Making sure the necessary infrastructure (roads, schools, public 

transport) are in place to tackle issues such as congestion 

• Shortage of fit for purpose office and light industrial accommodation 

• Ensuring the quality of the design of new developments so that they 

enhance the town’s overall environment and promote the wellbeing 

of residents 

• Ensuring sufficiently skilled local labour force to meet needs of local 

employers and businesses 

 

Our opportunities 

• Location remains a strong driver for prosperity – regional centre for 

retail, culture and leisure 

• Sound Local Plan provides robust framework for managing growth 

• Strategic  development sites located close to good transport links 

• Inward investment in Watford – Intu, Watford Health Campus, 

Watford Business Park, Metropolitan Line Extension 

• Strong local partnerships such as Watford BID, Skill makers, creative? 

Page 21



12 

 

Highlights of what we have achieved so far: 

• Consultation held with our community on the next phase of our Local Plan to shape the future of the town  

• Thomas Sawyer Way, the new road to improve access to Watford General Hospital and open up the 

Watford Health Campus site for regeneration, completed and opened on time  

 

• First business zone on Watford Health Campus (Industrial Zone South), which will deliver local jobs, started 

• Asset managers appointed for Watford Business Park with first phase of redevelopment underway 

 

• Planning application submitted for Ascot Road redevelopment 

• Multi-million pound upgrade of Charter Place started and premier department store secured as anchor 

store 

• Cassiobury Park ‘Parks for People’ completed; bandstand relocated to the park, new visitor hub building 

completed and refurbished paddling pools ready in time for 2017 summer season 

 

• New Gaelic Football facility opened   

• Third year of our successful Big Events programme delivered generating vibrancy and footfall in the top of 

the town 

  

• Developed a narrative on the benefits of our approach to smart growth to inform our community and 

build understanding 

 

 

We will continue to deliver this priority by: 

• Delivering the next phase of our Local Plan including submission to the planning inspectorate 

 

• Progressing investment in major projects,  infrastructure and public realm:  

 

o Town Hall Square completion 

o Watford Health Campus: completion of first business zone / industrial zone south (known as Trade 

City Watford), approval of revised masterplan and rebranding, car park strategy for Watford 

General Hospital 

o Western Gateway 

o Watford Junction first phase planning applications including infrastructure improvement plan 

agreed 

o Clarendon Road new office construction progressing 

o Watford Business Park, including Zone A venture partner, achieved 

o Charter Place / Intu completion including aligning leases across both sites and delivering High 

Street resurfacing 

o Metropolitan Line Extension construction 

o Ascot road start on site 

 

Page 22



13 

 

• Replacing the lifts at our satellite car parks and renewing the public realm 

 

• Facilitating the One Bell conversion and ensuring public rights of way are secured 

 

• Delivering Clarendon Road / Beechen Grove enhancements 

 

• Working in partnership with Hertfordshire County Council on tackling congestion and promoting more 

sustainable methods of transport including: 

o improving cycling lanes  

o promoting cycle hire 

o promoting car clubs 

o improving walking routes 

o extending electric charging points network 

 

• Working in partnership to deliver our Economic Growth Delivery Plan and providing the strategic lead for: 

o Inward investment and business retention 

o Skills brokerage and sector skills development 

o Growing  Watford’s knowledge economy 

 

• Delivering the first phase of Sports Facilities Strategy 

o Cassiobury Park:  official opening of new hub and paddling pools and events programme 

o Woodside: masterplan approved 

o Oxhey Park North including River Colne improvements 

o Gaelic Football Club: completed, Club relocated with an agreed engagement strategy 

o Cassiobury Site (Fullerians) investment 

o Cassiobury Croquet Club improvement 

 

• Developing a community arts strategy to support and maximise our cultural offer across the borough  

 

• Determining investment options for New Watford Market and renew outdoor market livery 

• Taking forward Watford Museum Heritage Lottery Fund improvement project 

• Supporting Watford BID  to ensure the vibrancy and success of the town centre, including preparing for 

renewal  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Smart growth is a better way to build and maintain our towns and cities.  

Smart growth means building urban, suburban and rural communities with housing and 

transportation choices near jobs, shops and schools.  This approach supports local economies and 

protects the environment.  Our Local Plan has, at its heart, the positive outcomes that can be 

achieved through smart growth. 

Page 23



14 

 

 
We are fortunate in Watford that the majority of our population enjoy a high standard of wellbeing, healthy 

lives and are able to access help when they may need it. We recognise that this is not the case for everyone 

and people’s circumstances can change.  We need to understand where these pressure points are for our 

town, and for individuals, and ensure that we are working with our partners to minimise the issues 

vulnerability can bring.  Through our commitment to equalities and diversity, we will ensure that changes to 

service delivery as well as our strategies and policies take into account the impact on our community as part of 

our decision-making process.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Highlights of what we have achieved so far: 

• Supported by the Community Sport Activation Fund, delivered an exciting range of sports activities to get 

people in central Watford more active and seen 3,500 local people get involved 

• Children’s  weight and eating habits tackled through our ‘Fit 4 Fun’ programme run through our local 

schools   

• Free swim and gym scheme for 8-15 year olds during the Easter and summer holidays offered through our 

two leisure centres 

 

• Through our Street Improvement Programme made a real difference to Cassio Road by working with our 

partners to  address some of the issues that can impact on the quality of life in an area and for local people 

• Free adventurous play all year round championed through our review of play facilities and two exciting 

playgrounds for young people with state of the art play equipment will be ready for opening this spring 

 

3.  Provide for our vulnerable and disadvantaged communities

Our challenges  

• Harnessing prosperity to benefit all our citizens 

• Changing demographics and emerging communities 

• Impact of cuts and changes to benefits and other support 

• Pockets of deprivation and health inequalities within the borough 

• Changing and reducing services provided by other agencies such as 

health and social care 

 

Our opportunities 

• Targeting our support to those most in need  

• Building on successful projects to date, such as the Street Improvement 

Project and Herts Healthy Homes project, and accessing funding through 

use of data and intelligence for targeted projects 

• Working with partners, such as the police, to understand vulnerabilities 

and our emerging communities 

 

Page 24



15 

 

• A £1.54 million insulation project to insulate 127 homes on the Harebreaks estate completed. The work, 

which was majority funded by government grants, is expected to save residents £33,000 collectively each 

year on residents’ energy bills 

 

• Hertfordshire Healthy Homes (HHH) project supported for the fifth year with the addition of a Greenaider 

gardening project to help vulnerable residents with their gardens and to engage with other help 

agencies. Watford had the most HHH scheme visits this year across all Hertfordshire councils enabling 

onward referrals to 18 different schemes and support organisations  

 

 

 

 

We will continue to deliver this priority by: 

• Opening our new adventurous playground at Harwoods and launching our Easter and summer play 

programme for 5-15 year olds 

 

• Continuing to deliver our Street Improvement Programme 

 

• Delivering a refreshed Sports Development Framework to support improved health and wellbeing 

 

• Undertaking a review of our community assets to ensure they are being best used to help our third sector 

support our communities, including our  more vulnerable residents 

 

• Establishing a community use agreement for our Exchange Road property 

 

• Reviewing our three year Voluntary and Community Sector Commissioning Framework to ensure it 

continues to promote the wellbeing of our town and our residents  

 

• Providing the strategic lead for promoting economic equality through our Economic Development Growth 

Plan 

• Working with our partners to deliver projects to improve housing and health conditions in the borough 

through the delivery of the Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy and the Health through Heat project 

 

• Reviewing our council tax reduction scheme 

 

• Working with partners to understand our community and the issues that are affecting our vulnerable and 

disadvantaged residents so we can target our services effectively and ensure our partners, including 

Hertfordshire County Council, are also addressing issues where there is most need (social care, children’s 

services, youth) 

 

• Developing a corporate approach to mental health issues in the borough 

 

 

 

 

Page 25



16 

 

 
Our Watford 2020 programme highlights the transformation that can be achieved through harnessing the 

opportunities offered through new technology and the digital world. 

 

Through Watford 2020, our aim is to empower local people and communities, to improve their lives, make 

things easier and quicker, and to give them access to things they might not have been able to take 

advantage of before.    

We also aim to support businesses to better exploit the digital age, to promote their services, create new 

avenues of business and become better connected. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Highlights of what we have achieved so far: 

• Leadership and direction for the digital agenda in Watford is now being driven by our Digital Watford 

Board 

 

• Through our Watford 2020 programme set out how we plan to transform the town, the council and our 

customers’ experience through better use of technology and being more innovative in our digital thinking 

by delivering the following 5 strands of work: 

o Digital Watford (incorporating Digital council, Digital town and Digital customer) 

o Service innovation 

o Commercialisation 

o Accommodation Review 

o Strengthening our underpinning strategies to support delivery (e.g. HR, ICT) 

 

• The face to face customer experience of visiting the Town Hall has been improved through a 

refurbishment of our Customer Service Centre so that it provides greater digital self-serve opportunities 

through:  

o Queue management system which is improving people’s waiting experience 

o Redesigned reception area 

o ‘Meet and Greet’ role to provide greater support for those visiting  

 

4.  Deliver a digital Watford to empower our community

Our challenges 

• Speed and complexity of some of our processes and transactions 

• Citizen expectations on how they access our services 

• Current workforce skills in the digital arena 

• Speed of technological change 

• Not all residents and businesses have online or digital skills or experience 
 

Opportunities 

• Harnessing the potential of our new website to improve customer 

experience, engagement with our community and to reduce costs where 

appropriate 

• New model of IT delivery and IT transformation will support change 

• High level of take up of new technologies and social media in Watford 

 

Page 26



17 

 

• Delivered free WiFi  to our town centre , which has attracted over 40,000 registered users 

• Provided more services online so people have more options on how, and when, they interact with us, such 

as: 

o waste and street care issues can now be easily reported using  a new online reporting tool 

o council tax and business rates  are easy to pay   with a new online payment tool and residents can 

sign up for paperless billing 

o parking services such as applying for visitor permits and appealing parking fines can now be done 

directly through our website with  licensing, building control and planning services to follow 

shortly 

 

• Opened up communications and engagement channels with  the introduction of the Govdelivery 

electronic newsletter to our residents 

 

 

We will continue to deliver this priority by: 

• Underpinning everything we do with a robust, forward looking and innovative ICT Strategy 

 

• As part of our Watford 2020 programme: 

o delivering an ‘internet of things’ pilot 

o procuring  a WiFi app for Watford town centre 

o opening up opportunities for  wireless broadband operators to deliver their services to businesses 

across the town by utilising rooftop space  

o completing our customer service redesign for face to face visitors 

o delivering the next stage of the website project as part of our digital journey to fully maximise its 

potential to improve: customer experience, access to services and engagement and 

communication with our residents including a ‘citizen accounts’ solution 

o reviewing our accommodation,  ways of working and technology so that we can be more effective 

and responsive to customer and service needs 

o reviewing our services to ensure that how we work is customer focused and as efficient as possible 

 

• Building a new approach to two way engagement with our residents through the use of social media and 

other channels so they can make a contribution to local issues, policy development and service 

improvement 

 

 

 
 

All of the work in this Corporate Plan is dependent on the Council getting its finances right and securing a 

sound financial base.  This has never been more challenging with the Council facing the loss of around 

£2.5milllion revenue support grant by 2020.  However, this also brings the drive to innovate and look for 

ways to do things differently that will deliver savings or generate additional income.  It also provides the 

council with the opportunity to establish a sound financial basis into the future, which is not dependent on 

changes in government priorities or policy.  We also recognise that supporting our local businesses to thrive 

is critical to ensuring both a healthy economy and to securing business rate growth, which will form a key 

part of our future finances. 

5.  Secure our own financial future

Page 27



18 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Highlights of what we have achieved so far: 

• Watford Commercial Services Limited established as  our own trading company  

 

• Medium Term Financial Strategy agreed that aligns both our revenue and capital budgets to our ambitions 

in this Plan and ensures we are in a strong financial position by 2020 

• Engaged a private sector partner to manage our commercial property portfolio to ensure we are 

maximising the income we receive  

• Supported the creation of  new organisations, such as the BID which has successfully generated more 

investment into the town centre 

• Maintained excellent provision and value for money in the areas local people tell us are important -  our 

parks, street cleansing,  refuse collection, leisure centres, art and culture and events and will continue to 

do so 

 

• HLF funding of nearly £5million leveraged in the last three years through our own investment and 

commitment to improve important facilities such as Cassiobury Park and Watford Museum 

 

 

 

 

 

Our challenges 

• Loss of revenue support grant by 2020  

• Savings or additional income of £3 million needed to ‘balance the 

books’ by 2020 

• Need to finance our ambitions as well as business as usual 

• Growing population means an increasing demand for services 
 

Our opportunities 

• Access funding streams and external funding to support our ambitions 

• Use our property assets to increase our income 

• Identify opportunities to be more business-like and commercial 

• Work with other organisations (both private and public sector) to 

deliver services and, potentially, raise income 

• Provide stimulus to the economy in terms of business growth and more 

jobs through our approach to smart growth, which helps support the 

council’s finances too 

• Greater financial security as we are now less dependent  on 

government decisions and policies affecting our budget, which helps 

our long-term planning for the council and the town 

 

Page 28



19 

 

We will continue to deliver this priority by: 

• Developing a ‘commercial strategy’ including how we enhance our commercial skills and experience and 

how we can trade our services 

 

• Undertaking an analysis of the Council’s cost base to build a more thorough understanding of the costs of 

our services 

 

• Managing our property portfolio to stimulate growth, generate returns and meet changing service needs  

 

• Ensuring our contracts are delivering value for money and high quality services through robust tendering 

and procurement processes and on-going review including:  Leisure Management, Waste collection, street 

care, parks and open spaces, Watford Colosseum 

 

• Capturing returns on investment from our major projects and joint ventures 

 

• Submitting a planning application for the Town Hall complex 

 

• Securing £1million savings through our Watford 2020 programme 

 

 

 

Page 29



20 

 

Part Four 

Underpinning themes 
Whilst this Corporate Plan focuses on our priorities and the areas of work that will drive delivery, there are 

some key, important foundations that ensure our success and also build our effectiveness as an organisation. 

These are the themes that underpin the organisation and reflect our continuing commitment to being a quality 

organisation, achieving high performance across all we do. 

 

 
 

Our local community and residents are the heart of the town.  We want them to feel confident that they are 

kept well-informed about all that is going on in the town and that their voice can be heard on issues that 

matter to them.  Whatever we do must be underpinned by effective and relevant communication and be 

responsive to how people want to engage with us, whether this be through meetings, consultation, our 

website or social media.  At the same time we need to keep up to date with the way new technology is rapidly 

changing how people choose to communicate – our local population is relatively young and many are early 

adopters of new technologies.  Our challenge is to keep up with them whilst still responding to those with 

more traditional ways of staying in touch.  

Actions: we will take forward specific initiatives to consult our community pre and post the Mayoral elections 

to review the town’s progress and help shape future priorities and decision making. 

 

 

 

Successful delivery of our ambitions relies on making sure we have the best people, systems, processes and 

management arrangements in place to deliver efficient, high quality services that represent real value for 

money to the community.   

 

Our vision challenges us to continually improve and ensure we are amongst the top performing councils across 

all the services we deliver – whether we do these ourselves or through effective partnerships.  This means we 

need to set ourselves targets that really stretch what we do and how we work and look to the best authorities 

for our benchmark.  We need to embed a culture of ‘delivery’ through sound programme and project 

management and rapidly identify and address any areas where there is a risk to meeting milestones. 

 

Our support services like IT, HR and Finance continue to be the essential building blocks for our success.  IT 

remains critical for all that we do and whilst real step change has begun, we need to ensure IT continues to 

improve and that we have the right strategy in place to make the most of the opportunities it offers.  We want 

our staff and members to be equipped with the best IT solutions available, including making sure our critical 

business applications are up to date and that we modernise where better solutions present themselves. 

 

Talented, well skilled staff are vital if we are to achieve what we have set out in this Corporate Plan.  We want 

to retain and grow our own talent where possible but when we do recruit we want to make sure we attract 

the best from elsewhere.  We will work with our HR team on embedding a culture where strong performance 

and delivery are recognised, people are encouraged to be innovative and strive to make a real contribution to 

the Council and the town. 

 

Actions: We will bring forward a peer review of the Council’s services to assess how and where we can 

improve and compare us with the best. 

 

Effective two-way engagement and communications 

Sound management and high performance 

Page 30



21 

 

 

 

 

An attractive, well maintained environment is fundamental to our town and, we know, is really important to 

local people.   We will ensure that the refuse, recycling and street cleaning service remains high quality and we 

will identify pockets where a focused, partnership approach to bring the neighbourhood up to standard would 

be beneficial.  This is part of our continuing commitment to enhancing the public realm including building on 

the successful improvements to the top of the town, which have seen this area revitalised, with work planned 

for the civic area outside of the library and Town Hall. 

 

Actions: we will continue to invest with the BID and Hertfordshire County Council on improvements to our 

public realm and also maintain excellent relationships with delivery partners such as Veolia to continuously 

enhance the quality of our environment 

 

 
 

Our finances are perhaps the most critical building block for our plans.  We need our finances to not only 

support our day to day activities and provide our services (through our revenue budget) but also to deliver the 

major, transformational projects that make such a difference to our town and local neighbourhoods (through 

our capital budget). 

Our Medium Term Financial Strategy is a four year forecast that sets out our budget and looks at factors likely 

to impact on our expenditure. 

For 2017/18, the strategy shows that our gross budget is  £71.1 million with a net budget requirement of 

£14.262million.  

There are a number of ways this is funded: 

• Council Tax requirement 

• Retained Business Rates 

• Revenue Support Grant (but reducing to zero by 2019/20), New Homes Bonus Grant & other grants 

• Commercial rent 

• Fees & Charges 

• Interest and Reserve Fund 

• Housing Benefit Grant – this is money that comes directly from government to be administered by the 

council to support those in need of housing benefit. It is not council money that we can spend in any 

other way  

 

 

Improving the town’s environment 

Our finances  

Page 31



22 

 

   
Watford BC’s funding 2017/18:  by different funding sources- the largest amount of money we receive is for Housing 

Benefit which we are responsible for allocating to our residents in need of this financial support  

Changes to government funding 

In terms of the Revenue Support Grant, this is the grant councils receive from government to help support the 

cost of the services they deliver.  In December 2015, the government announced that this funding is ending – 

for Watford this will be in 2019/20.  What this means is shown in the chart below – indicating a loss of 

£2,575,430 by 2020.  It also means the percentage of our budget dependent on council tax increases from 60% 

in 2017/18 to 68% in 2019/20. 

 

 

As set out in this Plan, this presents a significant challenge for Watford – in percentage terms it is around 16% 

less budget to spend by 2020 compared with 2014/15.  Implementing our Medium Term Financial Strategy, 

which sets out how we will bridge this gap, will be a major area of focus for the Council to 2020.  Our goal is to 

ensure we maintain the quality of the services that are important to our residents whilst still being able to 

innovate where this delivers improvements or in response to new opportunities.    

 

 

Page 32



23 

 

Use of reserves 

With the savings we need to make over the next year (and following two years), it is not always easy to be 

exact as to the timing and the final sums that will be achieved.  In view of this, the Council is allowed to, and 

will, make prudent use of some of its reserves to ‘smooth’ the delivery of the savings.  Obviously using 

reserves to support the revenue deficit is not sustainable in the longer term and, therefore, this means that 

savings and efficiencies will still need to be made. It does, however, ensure that the Council is able to set a 

balanced budget whilst the organisation undertakes the work necessary to achieve a permanently secure 

financial footing.  Our Medium Term Financial Strategy has allowed for the use of £886,000 of reserves in the 

next financial year. 

Council tax 

With the on-going reduction in government funding, council tax is now, by far, the major source of funding for 

the Council.   

The government has built into our finances an assumption that we will raise council tax, and most councils are 

doing so. However, the proportion of council tax that comes to Watford Borough Council is extremely small – 

around £250 a year for someone living in a Band D property.   Most goes to Hertfordshire County Council 

(including an additional charge to support the County’s adult social care budget) and a small amount to the 

Police and Crime Commissioner. 

Watford had managed to freeze its element of council tax for 7 years but we are now faced with a funding gap 

which means a continued freeze is not sustainable.  Putting up council tax by 1.99% this year would cost each 

council tax payer around £5 a year and would provide the council with £155,000 additional income.  For 

2017/18 Watford’s element of council tax will, therefore, increase by £5.00 (2.00%) for a Band D property, 

which is line with the current rate of inflation (RPI of 2.0% in September 2016).  It is less than a 10p a week for 

a Band D property. This means the average charge is now £254.84. 

Business rates 

Whilst the Council collects business rates it cannot keep all the money it collects.  This has to be shared with 

the county council, the Police and Crime Commissioner and government to fund services. There is an element 

of risk involved in the Business Rates scheme, which is designed to incentivise Councils to promote business 

growth within their areas. The Council expects its share of business rates to be £2.452 million in 2017/18. 

  

Capital spending 

The Council’s plans are supported by its Capital Investment Programme, which is used to acquire or create 

new assets, or enhance existing ones. Capital Investment may be paid for by capital resources (which are 

restricted to this kind of use) or borrowing, or any spare money available from revenue budgets (unfortunately 

WBC does not have any such spare money!).  Even if there is pressure on the revenue budget, councils are not 

allowed to use capital resources to support revenue spending on day to day activities and service delivery, 

they have to be used to either acquire or create a new assets or to enhance an existing ones. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 33



24 

 

The capital budget for the next three years is: 

 

 
 

There is a huge amount of capital investment in Watford over the next few years and the Council is committed 

to use its own capital budgets, seeking investment from central government and other third parties, and 

borrowing to the benefit of its residents.   Below are some of the major projects and areas of work we have 

identified for capital expenditure. 

 

Parks and open spaces 

including Oxhey Park North and tennis court refurbishment 

NEW for 2017/18 

 

 

Watford Health Campus 

this will help support the first six phases of  residential development to 

deliver new homes, as well as the Industrial Zone South employment 

zone and a new multi-storey car park for the hospital.  This investment 

will generate a return back to the council to support front line services. 

 

 

 

Loan to Hart Homes 

a loan to the Council and Watford Community Housing Trust’s joint 

venture company which will deliver affordable homes and temporary 

accommodation for use in 2018 

NEW for 2017/18 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Modular Housing 

providing additional temporary accommodation in the borough 

NEW for 2017/18 

 

Property Investment Board 

budgets for the reinvestment of receipts from sales of existing 

commercial property, and the proposed increase in size of the portfolio 

to generate increased, secure and long term revenue returns for the 

Council. 

 

 

Planning, Transport & Infrastructure 

schemes to improve the highway between Clarendon Road and St 

Mary’s Church and review the Community Infrastructure Levy charging 

regime for the borough 

NEW for 2017/18 

 

 

£24,666,000
£26,377,000

£17,980,000

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

£4,000,000 

£34,124,000 

£6,075,000 

£19,429,000 

£580,000 

£6,000,000 

Page 34



25 

 

Part Five 
Monitoring the Plan 
Ensuring we deliver our Corporate Plan is critical to our success as an organisation and builds our residents 

confidence that we keep our promises. 

 

We ensure delivery is on track through:  

 

• Making sure all our Corporate Plan areas of work are reflected in service plans, work programmes and 

individual performance development review objectives, building the ‘golden thread’ through the 

organisation 

 

• Identifying the key milestones for our work and holding ourselves to account for delivery – this will include 

regular updates to our Cabinet, Programme Management Board and Leadership Team 

 

• Establishing a robust set of performance measures that are regularly monitored by Leadership Team, 

Portfolio Holders and our Scrutiny Committees.  These measures extend to our outsourced services 

 

• Providing challenge and assurance through robust governance including:   Programme Management Board 

for our major projects, Property Investment Board for our property related work, Finance Review Board 

for our finances and Digital Watford Board for our 2020 transformation agenda 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

How do I find out more? 

 
www.watford.gov.uk/councilplan 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 35





 

PART A 

Report to: Cabinet  

Date of meeting: 6th March 2017   

Report of: Deputy Managing Director 

Title: Local Plan Part 2 Submission

1.0 Summary

1.1 Local Plan Part 2 sets out the Site Allocations and detailed Development 
Management policies to support delivery of the vision and strategy set out in Local 
Plan Part 1 Core Strategy adopted in 2013. 

1.2 Local Plan Part 2 has been subject to several rounds of consultation since we first 
invited stakeholders to let us know what they felt the plan should cover back in 
November 2012. The most recent was the Publication consultation from August to 
October 2016 when we published the plan we intend to submit for examination and 
invited comments relating specifically to the legal and soundness tests set out by 
government. 

1.3 The Publication was accompanied by an Equalities Impact Assessment and a 
Sustainability Appraisal/Strategic Environmental Assessment in the form of an 
Environmental Report which included assessment of all reasonable alternatives.

1.4 29 parties made representations to the Publication consultation raising 173 
individual points of which 60 supported the plan, 74 were comments and 39 were 
objections.  The majority of the representations suggested minor wording changes or 
simply provided information rather than commenting on the soundness or legal tests 
as required at this stage. 

1.5 Officers consider the most significant objection in relation to soundness is that raised 
by Hertfordshire County Council (HCC) Highways about a need for evidence of the 
ability of the transport network to cope with proposed growth and that the Plan is 
progressing in advance of the County Council’s Growth and Transport Plan which 

Page 37

Agenda Item 6



 

would provide key evidence (but not until late 2017).  They also expressed concern 
about the need to better understand the transport impacts arising from 
development at Watford Junction. 

1.6 Because the timings of the Growth and Transport Plan mean data will not be 
available in time to inform this Plan without significant delay, officers are working 
with HCC to find a way forward which would enable them to withdraw their 
objection. 

1.7 Officers consider that other comments and objections can be addressed by minor 
modifications to clarify wording without changing the meaning of the Plan.  Such 
wording changes cannot be made before submission since the Publication plan must 
be the one we submit (unless significant changes were needed which would require 
additional consultation and sustainability appraisal).  We are able to make such 
minor changes on adoption of the plan but for completeness the Inspector will be 
informed of the proposed minor wording changes to consider alongside any more 
significant changes that come out of the examination process.

1.8 Subject to the negotiation of an acceptable MOU with HCC it is recommended that 
the Local Plan Part 2 be submitted to the Secretary of State for independent 
examination in line with Regulation 22 of the Town and Country Planning (Local 
Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. 

1.9 Due to the time needed to discuss HCC’s objection the timetable for submission has 
changed from February to March and a corresponding update to the Local 
Development Scheme timetable is required. In March 2016 cabinet agreed that 
approval of such updates be delegated to the Head of Regeneration and 
Development (role now incorporated into the  Deputy Managing Director post) 
subject to the agreement of the portfolio holder.

2.0 Recommendations

2.1 That members agree the Local Plan Part 2 should be reported to Council on 21st 
March with a recommendation that the Plan be submitted for independent 
examination in line with Regulation 22 of the Town and Country Planning (Local 
Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.  This recommendation remains subject to 
agreement with Hertfordshire County Council on an acceptable way forward in 
respect of transport modelling.

2.2 That the Deputy Managing Director is delegated authority to agree, in consultation 
with the Portfolio Holder, any late minor changes / documents needed to 
accompany the submission such as the agreement with Hertfordshire County Council 
and the updated Infrastructure Delivery Plan.

Page 38



 

Contact Officer:
For further information on this report please contact: Vicky Owen, Spatial 
Planning Manager
telephone extension: 8281 email: vicky.owen@watford.gov.uk

Report approved by: Nick Fenwick, Deputy Managing Director

3.0 Detailed proposal

3.1 Local Plan Part 2 sets out the site allocations and detailed development management 
policies to deliver the level of development (including 6,500 homes and 7,000 jobs) 
and the vision set out in the Local Plan Part 1 Core Strategy, adopted in 2013. Together 
the 2 parts will complete the Local Plan for Watford for the period 2006-2031.

3.2 Summary of Local Plan Part 2: 
3.3 Taller Buildings:

Policies TB1 and TB2 set the policy context for taller buildings in Watford.  These were 
developed in response to an increasing number of applications for taller buildings, in 
order to inform the choice of location and ensure good design.  The policies are 
supported by the Supplementary Planning Document – Skyline – which was adopted in 
2016.  Policy TB1 identifies the most suitable locations for taller buildings as Watford 
Junction (Special Policy Area 2), Ascot Road (within the Western Gateway Special 
Policy Area 6) and Clarendon Road (within the Town Centre SPA1), whilst TB2 sets out 
criteria for determining whether a tall building is of suitably high quality and delivers 
an outstanding public realm – to be read along the more detailed guidance in the 
Skyline SPD.  With the population forecasts continuing to increase, with the population 
of Watford expected to reach 100,000 by the end of this year, there is likely to be 
continuing pressure from developers for taller buildings as we move forward.

3.4 Transport:

The standards for car and cycle parking in the Local Plan Part 2 seek a balance which 
will encourage a reduction in car use whilst allowing sufficient parking in areas which 
are not so accessible by public transport.  These policies also seek to ensure that 
secure and accessible cycle parking is provided in new developments. The proposed 
level of car parking provision takes into account accessibility by setting different 
standards for accessibility zone 1 (the most accessible locations) and zone 2 (which is 
less accessible and likely to be more car reliant at present).  For residential use the 
policy recommends 1 car space per unit for homes with 3 or more bedrooms in zone 1 
and 2.25 spaces in zone 2, but allows some flexibility for “car lite” developments 

Page 39



 

where sites are served by significant public transport infrastructure.  At least 1 cycle 
storage space per unit should also be provided.    The standards also require provision 
of electric charging points with a view to the use of such vehicles increasing in future, 
and to support the use of pool cars or car clubs.  An SPD has been drafted to provide 
additional guidance on cycle parking and storage, which is currently out for 
consultation.

3.5 However, it is important to note that the Government has made clear in the 2015 
Ministerial Statement on Planning 
(https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/planning-update-march-2015) that they 
prefer to see the market determine the level of parking and that local authorities 
should not impose additional requirements unless they have compelling evidence that 
a particular approach to parking is required to manage the local road network.  At 
present we do not have sufficiently detailed evidence to justify an enforceable policy 
which means we have reframed the standards as “guidance”.  As such they would be 
used as a guide for negotiating appropriate levels of parking with applicants.  This is an 
area in which additional evidence will be prepared as part of a Parking SPD where 
flexible standards will be given detailed consideration.  This work will help inform the 
Local Plan Review and will tie in well with the transport modelling work being 
undertaken by HCC for the Growth and Transport Plan.

3.6 Sustainable Development : 

Since the government abolished the Code for Sustainable Homes and moved 
sustainability requirements into the Building Regulations, we are limited in terms of 
what we can require in the Local Plan, when it comes to residential development.  The 
government indicated in the March 2015 Ministerial Statement that we should not ask 
developers to meet a higher energy performance standard than that imposed by the 
Building Regulations after the commencement of amendments to the Planning and 
Energy Act 2008 in the Deregulation Bill 2015.  Although the Bill has since received 
Royal Assent the relevant commencement was linked to the introduction of zero 
carbon homes – an initiative the government has since abandoned.  The policy 
wording therefore continues to seek a higher performance (equivalent to level 4 of the 
withdrawn Code for Sustainable Homes) for major residential development in the 
Special Policy Areas.  This approach has been discussed with officers at DCLG since the 
Publication consultation and minor wording changes made to ensure consistency with 
national policy.   The Ministerial Statement did not affect non-residential 
development, as long as the plan has been assessed for viability -  the policy seeks 
compliance with BREEAM standards ( developed by the Building Research 
establishment) – seeking a minimum level of “Very Good” across the Borough, with a 
higher “Excellent” standard  expected for major development within the Special Policy 
Areas.  Policies continue to encourage the use of renewable energy in all areas, and to 
encourage the use of decentralised energy networks - with development in SPAs 1, 2 
and 3 expected to contribute towards the provision of such networks.

3.7 Employment:

The employment policies in the Core Strategy and Local Plan Part 2 seek to protect 

Page 40



 

employment areas from change to other uses.  National changes to permitted 
development rights mean offices can now change to residential use without needing 
planning permission.  In order to protect the town’s key office area an Article 4 
Direction was made to remove this permitted development right from the 
employment area covering Clarendon Road, Station Road and Bridle Path in the face of 
pressure for significant conversion to residential in spite of evidence showing a 
significant need for additional office space in the borough.  Evidence was therefore 
commissioned to assess the viability of delivering new A Grade office space in this 
employment area, and if other uses were required for viability, to advise on the 
amount of such supporting uses likely to be required to deliver the significant uplift in 
quality office space required.  The first finding of the Clarendon Road Study was that in 
fact new speculative office development was perfectly viable and that other uses such 
as residential were not required on viability grounds.  

3.8 The policy for the Clarendon Road, Station Road and Bridle Path Office Area builds on 
the Core Strategy policies and emphasises the need for additional modern, high quality 
office space in this key location.  The policy does allow some supporting uses where 
these add to the vitality and viability of the office area.

3.9 Further detailed work on the future of this key location will be undertaken to inform 
the Local Plan Review.

3.10 Housing: 

The adopted Core Strategy sets a minimum target of 6,500 new homes for the period 
2006-2031.  3,615 homes had already been completed by 2015 with a further 1,629 in 
the development pipeline (under construction or with outline or detailed planning 
permission). Windfall sites are expected to deliver a further 660 homes based on past 
trends.  Local Plan Part 2 identifies sites capable of delivering 3,093 additional homes 
which takes the potential housing delivery to 8,997 which is 2,497 above the minimum 
target of 6,500.  This buffer helps ensure there is a choice of sites that we consider 
suitable for housing available to developers and recognises that not all allocated sites 
may actually come forward in a plan period, as well as potentially giving some 
breathing space as we undertake the work required to turn the assessed future 
housing need into an appropriate target for Watford in the Local Plan Review.  We 
continue to have strong demand for further housing in the Borough and housing is 
seen as a priority by the Council and central government. Although the Housing White 
Paper (Feb 2017) is still out for consultation until May 2017, there is pressure to 
deliver more housing which is likely to remain for some considerable time.

3.11 Results of the Publication Consultation:

3.12 29 parties made representations to the consultation raising 173 individual points, of 
which 60 supported the plan, 39 objected and 74 made comments (such as providing 
information or suggesting wording clarification).  All representations can be seen on 

Page 41



 

the Local Plan consultation portal: https://watford.jdi-consult.net/localplan 

3.13 The most significant objection is considered to be that raised by Hertfordshire County 
Council (HCC) Highways about a need for evidence of the ability of the transport 
network to cope with the proposed growth.   The first full run of the new Comet 
transport model indicates increased congestion in several locations by 2031.  
Mitigation measures need to be considered and tested to address this.  The best way 
to fully consider mitigation measures and test them would be through preparation of 
the Growth and Transport Plan, currently in the early stages of preparation by HCC.  
Waiting for that work to be complete would mean a significant delay to Local Plan Part 
2 and officers consider that work would be best used to inform the Local Plan review 
which is already timetabled to follow on swiftly from Local Plan Part 2.   Officers are 
working to agree a suitable way forward with HCC to enable Local Plan Part 2 to 
progress.

3.14 Other objections are summarised below:

3.15 London Concrete objected to the degree of reference to safeguarding of the rail 
aggregates depot and concrete batching plant at Watford Junction, feeling the wording 
was not sufficiently strong and that the safeguarded area should be shown on the site 
map.  Minor wording changes are proposed to further clarify the safeguarded nature 
of these facilities and the area will be shown on the site plan for SPA2.

3.16 St William, developers of the Gas Holder site, made several objections, including to the 
adoption of national described space standards which they had previously supported, 
to elements of the parking guidance and to the sustainable design requirements.  They 
also objected that no housing figure for their site had been included in the plan.  A 
housing number had not been included because of potential flooding issues which 
means any number would be dependent on an appropriate scheme being agreed with 
the Environment Agency.  However, a minor change can be made to make it clearer 
that a housing component might form part of the mix of uses on this mixed use 
allocation.  In relation to the nationally described space standards, a minor wording 
change is proposed and the evidence supporting the need for the standard has been 
drawn together to accompany submission. The parking standards are for guidance and 
no change is proposed.  A minor change is proposed to the sustainable design 
requirements following discussion with officers at the Department of Communities and 
Local Government, to ensure the policy complies with government guidance.

3.17 Historic England asked for more specific reference to listed buildings in the site 
schedules and for other minor wording amendments to ensure consistency with 
terminology used in the NPPF, the majority of which we propose including as minor 
modifications.

3.18 Thames Water wanted additional reference to water supply and proposed an 
additional policy.  Further to discussion, and clarification that part of their additions 

Page 42

https://watford.jdi-consult.net/localplan


 

are already covered in the adopted Core Strategy they have confirmed that they were 
not formally objecting on soundness grounds and a more minor wording change is 
proposed.

3.19 John Cox made several objections in relation to development at Watford Junction, 
asking about the alternatives considered, the needs of Network Rail and the future of 
the Abbey Line. Watford Junction is already identified as a Special Policy Area in the 
adopted Core Strategy.  The operational needs of Network Rail are a matter for them 
rather than for the Local Plan but they have of course been involved in discussions 
regarding the future use of the site, and in terms of identifying land available for 
development.

3.20 The National Federation of Gypsy and Traveller Liaison objected to the allocation of a 
single site and that the plan does not explain the level of assessed need.  The level of 
need and the principle of a single site were recognised in the adopted Core Strategy.  
Future needs will be assessed in the Plan Review. This has been discussed with the 
objector and a wording clarification has been agreed to address the concerns.

3.21 JLL (on behalf of Orion) felt SPMX2 Mixed Use Allocations should not limit the 
remaining potential capacity for Ascot Road to 400.  The numbers are not expressed as 
a limit – the figures are purely indicative.  No change is proposed. 

3.22 Natural England, Herts and Middlesex Wildlife Trust and HCC suggested changes to 
GI10 Managing Biodiversity in New Developments. The wording had already been 
changed pre Publication to meet the requirements of the Local Nature Partnership. 
Revised wording has now been agreed which seeks to address the conflicting requests 
from the different agencies.

3.23 The Environment Agency proposed wording changes to policy GI7 (Protection and 
Restoration of River Corridors and Watercourses).  The proposed changes are not 
considered necessary for soundness but have been included in the proposed minor 
modifications as they assist clarity.

3.24 Hille Holdings asked that the affordable housing requirement be reduced to 20% for 
the Watford Junction SPA.  This is not considered appropriate – any departure from 
the adopted Core Strategy policy on affordable housing would need to be justified.

3.25 NLP (on behalf of Intu) objected to the retention of a 90 % retail (Class A1) frontage in 
the intu centre as they would like to introduce other uses.  We propose defending this 
policy as we have already designated restaurant hub areas for A3 uses and consider 
other non retail uses would be better located outside of the main shopping mall.

3.26 British Sign and Graphics Association object to mention of the Shopfront Design Guide 
in Policy UD3 because they were not directly consulted on the preparation of that 
Guide.  Officers do not consider this to be a soundness issue.

Page 43



 

3.27 St Gobain objected to the allocation of a site they currently lease as Jewson.  No 
change is proposed – the site owner had confirmed they were happy with the 
allocation of the site. 

3.28 Sport England and local resident Neil Spicer objected to the proposed housing 
allocation H2 Lower Derby Road, asking that an alternative location for the skate park 
be identified.  The site schedules already made it clear that the skate park would need 
to be relocated to an accessible location ahead of any redevelopment but revised 
wording has been agreed to clarify that a replacement skate park of at least equivalent 
size and quality should be provided in an an accessible location ahead of this site being 
developed.  The Sports Facilities Strategy includes a site for an improved replacement.
 

3.29 Neil Spicer also objected to several other housing sites, suggesting that Bowmans 
Green Garages should be retained for parking and that the Metropolitan Line Station 
should be kept for future use and train parking.  Transport for London suggested this 
site as they do not need it for such use.  No change proposed to these sites.

Risks

3.30 The primary risk with progressing the Local Plan Part 2 to submission is likely to be the 
objection from Hertfordshire County Council on transport modelling.  If a way forward 
cannot be agreed then officers consider the plan should not progress to submission.  

3.31 Other risks relate to current uncertainty around the progress of the Metropolitan Line 
Extension, and the impact changes being introduced by government, including in the 
Housing White paper announced on 7th February.

4.0 Implications

4.1 Financial

4.1.1 The Head of Finance (shared services) comments that there are no direct financial 
implications in this paper.

4.2 Legal Issues (Monitoring Officer)

4.2.1 The Head of Democracy and Governance comments that Council has to agree to Local 
Plan part 2 being submitted for public examination. 

4.3 Equalities/Human Rights

4.3.1 An equalities impact assessment was undertaken and published alongside the first 
consultation on Local Plan Part 2.  The initial screening found that most policies had a 
neutral effect or were not relevant (i.e. that whether a person had one of the 
protected characteristics or not had no relevance to the impact of the policy).  No 

Page 44



 

significant impacts were identified, either positive or negative, which required further 
assessment.  This exercise was reviewed to reflect the policy wording at Publication 
stage and again found that there were no significant effects.  The revised assessment 
was published for consultation alongside the Publication.  No comments were 
received. 

4.4 Potential Risks

Potential Risk Likelihood Impact Overall 
score

Objection from Herts County Council unresolved 1 3 3
Changes to national policy affecting validity of 
local policies

3 3 9

Insufficient staff available 2 3 6
MLX not progressed 2 4 8
Inspector recommending we go straight to a 
plan review

1 4 4

4.5 Staffing

4.5.1 A Programme Officer will be required to undertake the administration of the 
examination in an independent capacity to the Council. 

4.6 Accommodation

4.6.1 A venue will be required for the examination hearings.  In line with the equalities duty 
and commitment in the Statement of Community Involvement, any such venue should 
be fully accessible. Office space will be required for the Inspector and Programme 
Officer and space to accommodate the document library during the examination.

4.7 Community Safety/Crime and Disorder

4.7.1 The plan contains a policy on Community Safety. 

4.8 Sustainability

4.8.1 Sustainability Appraisal including Strategic Environmental Assessment has been 
undertaken and subject to consultation at every stage of plan preparation

Page 45



 

Appendices

 Local Plan Part 2 Publication (available at: https://watford.jdi-
consult.net/localplan/readdoc.php?docid=14) 

 Schedule of Proposed Modifications
 Schedule of Changes to the Policies Map
 Proposed Submission Policies Map and Town Centre Inset Map (draft)

 
Background Papers

The following background papers were used in the preparation of this report.  If 
you wish to inspect or take copies of the background papers, please contact the 
officer named on the front page of the report.

The Local Plan Part 2, and all representations can be viewed online at:  
https://watford.jdi-consult.net/localplan/readdoc.php?docid=14

Key supporting documents can be viewed online at: http://watford.jdi-
consult.net/localplan/readdoc.php?docid=18

File Reference

 SP2.2.3 LP2

Page 46

https://watford.jdi-consult.net/localplan/readdoc.php?docid=14
https://watford.jdi-consult.net/localplan/readdoc.php?docid=14
https://watford.jdi-consult.net/localplan/readdoc.php?docid=14
https://watford.jdi-consult.net/localplan/readdoc.php?docid=14
https://watford.jdi-consult.net/localplan/readdoc.php?docid=14
http://watford.jdi-consult.net/localplan/readdoc.php?docid=18
http://watford.jdi-consult.net/localplan/readdoc.php?docid=18


WATFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development Management Policies – proposed minor 
modifications

This schedule identifies and sets out the proposed changes and clarifications to the Council’s Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development 
Management Policies. These changes do not prejudice any potential changes that the Inspector may propose and for the avoidance of doubt these 
proposed changes shall be referred to as ‘minor modifications’. 

This schedule of additional modifications is proposed in order to correct errors, provide greater clarity where required or to reword specific paragraphs and 
policies of the plan in response to comments by the consultees. It is considered that these proposed changes are minor in nature and therefore “do not 
materially affect the policies that would be set out in the document”. However, the council notes that there is not specific guidance to inform what 
constitutes ‘minor’ or ‘major’ modifications and if the Inspector considers that any change is material, the Council will consult on these changes in 
conjunction with any proposed modifications the Inspector may identify.  The proposed modifications are listed in document order of the Local Plan Part 2: 
Site Allocations and Development Management Policies. The following identifies the terms in the schedule:

MM. No: unique reference number for each proposed Minor Modification

Policy/ Paragraph Number: the specific policy or paragraph within the SADM to which the proposed Additional Modification applies.

Description of Modification: 

Where text is proposed for deletion it is shown by strikethrough as: deleted text.
Where text is proposed for addition, it is underlined as: additional text.

Reason for Change:  This gives a brief summary as to the reason/ rational behind the change

 

Page 47



AM.No Policy/ 
Paragraph 
Number

Page Description of Modification Reason for Change

CONTENTS AND GLOSSARY
MM1 Contents Add:  Appendix L : Replaced Watford District Plan 2000 Policies To ensure the Contents Page is 

accurate.
MM2 Glossary Add new entry between those for Policies Map and Primary Shopping Frontages:  

Preliminary Risk Assessment  (PRA): PRAs must identify all previous uses, potential 
contaminants associated with those uses and a conceptual site model of the site 
indicating sources, pathways and receptors.

The Environment Agency (EA) 
requested that PRA be the 
term for site investigations 
and suggested a definition was 
required

INTRODUCTION 
MM3 1.1 1 Part 1 of Watford’s Local Plan – the Core Strategy - was adopted on 30th January 

2013, replacing some of the policies in the Watford District Plan 2000. The Core 
Strategy sets out the vision, objectives and spatial strategy for Watford Borough to 
2031 and forms the strategic planning context. 

The introduction as written 
was for the publication 
consultation of the plan, and 
therefore it has been changed 
to reflect what an introduction 
would be for an adopted plan. 
All changes are clarifications.

MM4 1.2 and 
1.3

1 The Core Strategy and remaining policies of Watford District Plan (WDP) 2000 
currently make up the development plan for Watford, along with Hertfordshire 
County Council Minerals and Waste Local Plans. 

Part 2 of the Local Plan will replaces and updates the remaining Watford District Plan 
2000 policies and site allocations, to support the delivery of the Core Strategy vision 
and objectives by: 

1) Identifying sites and areas for specific purposes; and

2) Providing environmental criteria, against which development proposals 
and planning applications can be judged.

The Local Plan (Parts 1 and 2), together with the Hertfordshire Minerals and Wastes 
Local Plans, make up the development plan for Watford. 

The introduction as written 
was for the publication 
consultation of the plan, and 
therefore it has been changed 
to reflect what an introduction 
would be for an adopted plan. 
All changes are clarifications.

Page 48



MM5 para 1.4 1 We first asked for views on what Local Plan Part 2 should cover, back in November 
2012, and followed this up by publishing draft policies and a list of potential sites for 
consultation during November and December 2013. There were subsequent 
consultations on revised policies and sites in December 2014-Feb 2015; additional 
policies and changes from December 2015-Feb 2016 and on the adoption of the 
optional nationally described space standards in June – July 2015, as well as ongoing 
discussions under the Duty to Cooperate.  Information received in response to these 
consultations has been used, alongside relevant evidence, to prepare this the plan 
which is the version we intend to submit to the Secretary of State for examination.

Publication consultation, focussing on compliance with legal and soundness tests, 
took place between August and October 2016 and the plan was submitted for 
examination in March 2017.

The introduction as written 
was for the publication 
consultation of the plan, and 
therefore it has been changed 
to reflect what an introduction 
would be for an adopted plan. 
All changes are clarifications.

MM6 1.5 1
The Publication stage is a formal stage in plan preparation when you can comment 
on the Plan we propose to submit for examination.  At examination the inspector will 
consider whether the plan has been prepared in accordance with the duty to 
cooperate, legal and procedural requirements, and whether the plan is “sound” 
according to the 4 tests set out in paragraph 182 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF), namely that the plan is:

• Positively prepared – the plan should be based on a strategy which 
seeks to meet objectively assessed development and infrastructure 
requirements, including am met requirements from neighbouring 
authorities were it is reasonable to do so and consistent with 
achieving sustainable development;

• Justified-the plan should be the most appropriate strategy, when 
considered against the reasonable alternatives, based on 

The introduction as written 
was for the publication 
consultation of the plan, and 
therefore it has been changed 
to reflect what an introduction 
would be for an adopted plan. 
All changes are clarifications.

Page 49



proportionate evidence;

• Effective-the plan should be deliverable over its period and based on 
effective joint working on cross boundary strategic priorities; and

• Consistent with National Policy-the plan should enable the delivery 
of sustainable development in accordance with the policies in the 
NPPF

It is therefore helpful if comments are focussed on these matters.

Alongside this we are also consulting on the Environmental Report prepared to 
assess the sustainability of the proposed policies.  This report contains the 
sustainability and strategic environmental assessment required by the European 
Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) Directive.

MM7 1.7 and 
1.8

2
You will see that in many cases There are instances where the policy numbering in 
each chapter does not start at 1.  This is because the numbering follows on from that 
in the Core Strategy, to make it clear that the policies will all form part of the same 
Local Plan.  Once agreed adopted the policies will all operate together and, following 
adoption, the policies will be shown on an adopted policies map the proposed 
policies map which illustrates the geographical coverage of relevant policies.

The introduction as written 
was for the publication 
consultation of the plan, and 
therefore it has been changed 
to reflect what an introduction 
would be for an adopted plan. 
All changes are clarifications.

MM8 1.9 2
There are a number of formal stages in the preparation of the Local Plan, which we 
have were supplemented with additional consultation to ensure all interested parties 
have had a chance to help shape the plan.

The introduction as written 
was for the publication 
consultation of the plan, and 
therefore it has been changed 
to reflect what an introduction 
would be for an adopted plan. 
All changes are clarifications.

MM9 1.10 2
Plan preparation is an iterative process with the aim of arriving at a plan that there is 
as much agreement on as possible before it is submitted  for examination. Policies 
are were also subject to sustainability appraisal / strategic environmental assessment 

The introduction as written 
was for the publication 
consultation of the plan, and 
therefore it has been changed 

Page 50



which considers the environmental impact of the preferred policy approach and all 
reasonable alternatives as described in the Environmental Report., and An equalities 
impact assessment was also undertaken which considers the effect on defined 
“protected characteristics”. Plan preparation is therefore an iterative process, with 
the aim of arriving at a plan that there is as much agreement on as possible by the 
time we reach this formal publication stage (Stage 2 in Table 1 below). 

to reflect what an introduction 
would be for an adopted plan. 
All changes are clarifications.

MM10 1.11 2
By Stage 2 the plan should be ready to submit for examination, and the scope of 
consultation is therefore limited to compliance with defined legal and soundness 
tests.  

The introduction as written 
was for the publication 
consultation of the plan, and 
therefore it has been changed 
to reflect what an introduction 
would be for an adopted plan. 
All changes are clarifications.

MM11 Table 1 3 Current stage Aug-Oct 2016 Clarification
MM12 Table 1 4 Feb 2017 Mar 2017 Clarification
MM13 Table 1 4 Examination: April – Nov 2017 Clarification
MM14

How to comment:
Consultation on the Local Plan Part 2 and the Environmental Report will run from 
noon Thursday 18th August 2016 until noon on Mon 3rd October 2016. Please 
submit any comments during this timeframe.

The quickest and easiest way to submit comments is via our online system at this 
link: https://watford.jdi-consult.net/localplan. Comments may be submitted by 
selecting the relevant document then clicking on the pen symbol next to the policy 
on which you wish to comment. Before you submit comments for the first time you 
will need to register on the system. This is a simple process requiring a valid email 
address. Submitting comments this way is easy to do, and avoids any chance of 

This information is no longer 
necessary

Page 51

https://watford.jdi-consult.net/localplan


confusion as to which policy you are commenting on.

If you are unable or prefer not to submit comments online, please email them to 
strategy@watford.gov.uk ensuring each comment clearly indicates the policy 
referred to, and the relevant legal or soundness test. Such comments should be sent 
in a format that allows comments to be easily cut and pasted into the consultation 
system.

Our postal address and contact details are:

Watford Borough Council 
Planning Policy 
FREEPOST ANG0394

SPECIAL POLICY AREAS AND MIXED USE ALLOCATIONS
MM14 Paragraph 

2.3
10 Core Strategy and Development Plan Document Local Plan Correction requested by HCC

MM15 SPMX1 10 Development proposals should accord with the related Core Strategy and guidance 
on environmental considerations contained in this plan.

Historic England requested 
this change for clarity

MM16 SPMX1 10 Any proposals should also take account of safeguarded facilities and areas of search 
contained in the Hertfordshire Waste Local Plan  Core Strategy and Development 
Plan Document or the Hertfordshire Minerals Local Plan

Correction requested by HCC

MM17 SPMX1 10 SPA2 Watford Junction (includes a safeguarded rail aggregates depot and associated 
facilities at Orphanage Road)

London Concrete requested 
that this change is 
incorporated in the policy for 
consistency

MM18 SPMX2 11 Replace 0 in estimated housing component with:
A proportion as part of a mixed use development and subject to provisions set out in 
Appendix I.

The developer of this site was 
concerned that the ‘0’ figure 
in the table precluded housing 
on the Gasholder site. This is 
not the intention of the 
council, which identifies this 
as a mixed use site.  The site 

Page 52

mailto:strategy@watford.gov.uk


constraints affect housing 
capacity on site which will 
need to be determined in 
conjunction with the 
Environment Agency as any 
scheme is prepared. 

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT
MM19 Paragraph 

3.1
13 Until the commencement of amendments to the Planning and Energy Act 2008 in the 

Deregulation Bill 2015 (the date of which is still unknown) we will continue to require 
energy performance above that currently set in the building regulations in the special 
policy areas. The council is supportive of developments which go beyond the building 
regulations for residential development. Standards relating to non-residential 
development are unaffected by these national changes.

Clarification to ensure that the 
supporting text is consistent 
with the policy.

MM20 Policy SD5 14 Policy SD 5  
Sustainable Design Requirements
All residential development will need to comply with the energy performance 
standards set in the building regulations, as a minimum.  Non-residential 
development should achieve BREEAM Very Good, as a minimum.

All major development should meet current BREEAM Communities standards. 

Major development within the Special Policy Areas should achieve an energy 
performance standard equivalent to the former sustainable code for homes level 4 in 
the case of residential development or BREEAM Excellent in the case of non-
residential development.

Following discussion with 
DCLG, this policy currently is 
worded to be in line with 
national policy. However it is 
clear that residential 
development should not have 
performance targets attached, 
and because the communities 
standards may include 
residential development it was 
required to remove this 
requirement for the policy.

MM21 Para 3.17 17 Insert “water supply and ” before “wastewater infrastructure” in first sentence. Clarification in response to 
comments from Thames 
Water

MM22 Policy SD8 18 Add text after “flood risk zones 2 and 3” at end of 3rd para:
A sequential approach to site design will be required.

Development should be directed away from flood risk zone 3b (land where water 
flows or is stored in times of flood).  The only type of development which may be 

Clarification requested by 
Environment Agency

Page 53



acceptable would be water compatible development or essential infrastructure, 
subject to the Exception test.

MM23 Policy SD8 19 Amend the last para before the heading “Drainage and Surface Water”:
Floor levels in flood zones 2 and 3a should be designed in accordance with the 
guidance “ Flood Risk Assessments: Climate Change Allowances” updated 12 April 
2016.  This can be found on Gov.uk. to be above the 1 in 100 years predicted 
maximum flood levels, plus a minimum freeboard of 300,,. Taking account of climate 
change.  The allowances to be made for climate change should follow the latest 
Environment agency guidance ( currently Climate Change Allowance for Planners 
2016).

Clarification requested by 
Environment Agency

MM24 Policy SD8 19 Insert “ as part of development proposals” after “infrastructure provider” in 4th bullet 
under “Drainage and surface water”

Clarification requested by 
Environment Agency

MM25 Table 
following 
Policy SD8 

20 NPPF: Paras 100 -104 on flood risk, Para 99 on climate change adaptation. A Practice 
Guide Companion to PPS25.

Correction to remove 
reference to obsolete PPS.

MM26 Policy SD9 22 Insert “or will be provided in time to serve the development” after ““water supply is 
available…”

Clarification in response to 
comments from Thames 
Water

MM27 Para 3.30 24 The Waste Local Plan Core Strategy and Development Management Policies 
Document, produced by Hertfordshire County Council defines the Waste Hierarchy 
for Hertfordshire to minimise the amount of waste disposed of in landfill as 
prevention-preparing for Re-Use – Recycling – Other Recovery – Disposal.  
Information from WRAP about the benefits of a circular economy in reducing waste 
is detailed in the diagram overleaf.

HCC requested that this 
clarification is made

MM28 Figure re 
the 
circular 
economy 
after para 
3.30

25  Driver greater resource productivity To correct a typo

MM29 Para 3.61 35 Proposals including significant external lighting will require a Lighting Impact 
Assessment prepared by a lighting specialist and should adhere to the guidance 

Addition requested by HCC

Page 54



provided by the Institute of Lighting Engineers. Conditions may be used to mitigate 
any significant impact, for example by limiting the times of use and restricting 
illumination levels. The replacement or improvement of existing lighting to minimise 
impact shall also be considered.

MM30 Policy 
SD15

36 avoid adverse impact on heritage assets the historic environment. Historic England asked for all 
references to “heritage 
assets” to be changed to the 
“historic environment”

TOWN AND LOCAL CENTRES/RETAIL
MM31 Policy 

TLC3
41 The Council will normally seek to achieve at least 60% of the shop units on a street 

within the primary area in retail use (i.e. Use Class A1).
Clarification

MM32 Policy 
TLC4

41 Within Intu Watford (the former Harlequin and Charter Place) Shopping Centre 
(including units with direct access to the High Street and Queens Road – excluding 
those units designated as secondary frontage – as defined on the policies map) 
planning permission will not be granted for uses outside Use Classes A1, A2 or A3.

NLP requested this additional 
wording to clarify that those 
units identified as secondary 
retail frontage are not 
included within the Intu 
designation.

MM33 Policy 
TLC5

41 Within the Secondary Retail Frontages (as identified on the policies map) the Council 
will permit uses falling within classes A2 and A3 and other uses appropriate for a 
Town Centre (as set out in Annex 2 of the NPPF).

NLP requested that these 
change to text to make clear 
that the full range of town 
centre uses as set out in the 
NPPF would be acceptable in 
the secondary frontages.  

MM34 Policy 
TLC9

46 ii) Cultural Area - The Parade and Colosseum/Palace Theatre 

This area has an important role to play in creating a diverse family friendly town 
centre. The area makes an important contribution to the cultural offer of the town 
and it is important to reinforce this. The area includes a significant part of the Civic 
Core Conservation and a number of listed (Palace Theatre and Colosseum) and 
locally listed buildings.  Much of this area is designated as secondary retail frontage 
and policy TLC 5 applies in terms of land use at ground floor which allows the growth 
of service and restaurant /café use in this area. The use of upper floors in this area 

Additional wording requested 
by Historic England

Page 55



for office or residential will be encouraged as the occupation of upper floors will 
make an important contribution to the vitality and vibrancy of the town centre. The 
Colosseum is functionally part of the cultural offer of the town but is physically 
separated from the cultural area by the ring road so it is shown as being within the 
Civic Area.  The Palace Theatre is also functionally a key part of the town’s cultural 
offer, but is located within the area where retail is the main activity and is included in 
this area rather than the cultural area.

“vi) Heritage Area St Mary’s and High Street/King Street conservation areas 

Policies for these conservation areas are set out in the Conservation Areas 
Management Plan. 

The primary concern in these areas is the impact of any proposed development on 
the designated heritage assets. The Council will expect proposals for development in 
these areas to actively seek to enhance the identified character and appearance of 
the conservation areas and the setting of the listed buildings and heritage assets 
within and adjoining them.

HOUSING
MM35 Policy 

HS11
67 Amend section title: Older Persons’ and Specialist Housing To match the policy title and 

recognise that specialist 
accommodation is not only for 
older people – clarification 
requested by HCC

MM36 Policy 
HS11

67  in order to provide further older persons’ the appropriate type of accommodation Amended to recognise that 
specialist accommodation is 
not only for older people.

MM37 Policy 
HS12

70 Insert row for MXD3:  A proportion as part of a mixed use development and subject 
to provisions set out in Appendix I.

The developer of this site was 
concerned that the ‘0’ figure 
in the table precluded housing 

Page 56



on the Gasholder site. This is 
not the intention of the 
council, which identifies this 
as a mixed use site.  The site 
constraints affect housing 
capacity on site which will 
need to be determined in 
conjunction with the 
Environment Agency as any 
scheme is prepared. 

MM38 Para 5.24 72 Add to the end of para 5.24: 

Core Strategy Policy HS4 provides that sites will be identified to accommodate 20 
additional pitches by 2021 – site GT1 below provides for this.  The suitability of 
windfall sites to contribute to provision beyond this will be assessed against the 
criteria in Policy HS4.

Wording agreed with National 
Federation of Gypsy Liaison 
Groups

EMPLOYMENT
MM39 Policy 

EMP3
75 E3 Fishers Wiggenhall Industrial Areas Change of name requested by 

Watford BC Property Team
MM40 Paras 6.18 

– 6.23 and 
Policy 
EMP6

79 In recent years the UK film and TV industry has created successful British films and
television shows, maximising its value in employment terms and underpinning it’s
position in a highly competitive international environment by stimulating further 
private investment in world-class infrastructure. The importance of the UK creative 
industries to the economy is reflected in government ambitions to make Britain one 
of the world’s leading audio-visual economies, sustaining high quality jobs and 
driving international exports. Warner Bros. Studios Leavesden is an integral part of 
the UK film industry creative sector, representing one of the largest studio spaces in 
the UK and attracting inward investment of national significance to the UK film and 
TV industry.

The Studios, and the wider UK film and TV industry, play an important role in 
promoting the UK overseas, particularly as a result of investments such as the Harry 
Potter Studio Tour and are therefore important to the continuing growth of the UK’s

Wording clarification 
requested by Warner Bros

Page 57



tourism economy and international profile of the UK. The spill over effects of the  
film creative industryies are significant, particularly as a result of investments such as 
the Harry Potter Studio Tour which increasinges tourism spend and contributinges 
substantially to the local and national economies.

The film and TV industry is also important in terms of job creation, with employment 
in the film this sector outpacing almost all other sectors in the economy. The Studios 
provide direct and indirect employment across the Borough, and the Studio Tour 
focuses  focusing on employing local people wherever possible and investing in skills 
and training.

The economic contribution of Warner Bros. is of significance to the UK  film creative
industryies and to the continuing growth of the local economy. The Island Site is a 
key component in the future development of the Studios and the wider sector, 
further supporting its contribution to the UK film industry.

Why is this policy needed?

The Island site straddles the administrative boundary between Watford Borough and
Three Rivers District. The Three Rivers Site Allocations document was adopted in
November 2014 and includes a policy for the part of the Island Site, which falls within
Three Rivers District. The site has been allocated by Three Rivers to support the
Studios. It makes sense for a similar policy to apply to the remainder of the site, 
within Watford’s boundary, to ensure a consistent approach. This site is required for 
the future expansion and redevelopment of the nationally significant Leavesden 
Studios which, together with those other businesses that support the creative 
industries sector. Jointly with its popular Harry Potter attraction (Warner Bros. Studio 
Tour London - The Making of Harry Potter TM,) the site is considered to be  is of 
national economic benefit as well as bringing employment benefits to the area, and 
the Island Site will play an important role in furthering these benefits.

What is it intended to do?

Page 58



This policy provides for the future expansion of Leavesden Studios, acknowledges the
contribution that the creative industries make to the Hertfordshire film and TV 
cluster and ensures a consistent approach for the site with Three Rivers. The site will 
be removed from the Green Belt on adoption of this Plan. This will be undertaken in 
order not to compromise the ability of Leavesden Studios and the Hertfordshire film 
and TV cluster to contribute to the national and regional economy, both as a local 
employment site and as a centre of economic growth for the District.

Policy EMP6
Leavesden Studios Operations – The Island Site

Development of the Island Site should be connected to the operation of Leavesden 
Studios for purposes ancillary to the use of the main Studio site for film and TV 
productions. 

The design of any development should take into account the site’s proximity to, and
protect the visual amenity of, the Green Belt. Appropriate landscaping should be
provided.

TRANSPORT
MM41 Policy T6 82 All development should provide an appropriate level of parking in line with the 

parking guidance set out in Appendix G based upon the proposed size, use and the 
accessibility of the site.  Accessibility Zones for the borough (as shown in the 
appendix) have been defined with regard to accessibility to railway stations and bus 
routes, with a minimum frequency of services that provide an alternative means of 
travel to the private car.  Flexibility on the recommended guidance standards will be 
considered positively for ‘car lite’ developments in close proximity to major transport 
infrastructure where secure cycle storage is provided.

Comments were received 
which requested that it be 
made clear that the parking 
requirement are ‘ guidance ‘.

URBAN DESIGN AND THE HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT
MM42 Policy UD4 92 Policy UD 4

The Council will conserve the significance (including character and setting) of the 
borough’s heritage assets

Changes for clarity and 
consistency with NPPF – 
agreed with Historic England

Page 59



The Historic Environment 

Listed Buildings (Nationally Listed Buildings) 

The Council will preserve the character and setting of the borough’s listed buildings 
and will support applications where:

 development the extension/alteration of a listed building would not adversely 
affect the its character as a building of special architectural or historic interest, 
both internally and externally, or adversely affect its wider setting;

 any change of use would preserve its character as a building of special 
architectural or historic interest and ensure its continued use/viability.

Applications involving the demolition of a listed building will only be granted in 
wholly exceptional circumstances.

Setting of a Listed Building

Where development proposals lead to harm to, or loss of significance of, a listed 
building (including due to an impact on its setting), applications for such 
development will only be granted in wholly exceptional circumstances where this 
harm or loss can would be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal.

Conservation Areas

Within conservation areas development will be supported where it: 

 is of a design and scale that preserves or enhances the character and 
appearance of the area;

 uses building materials, finishes, including those for features such as walls, 
railings, gates and hard surfacing, that are appropriate to the local context 
preserve or enhance the character of the conservation area;

 retains historically significant boundaries, important open spaces and other 
elements of the area’s established pattern of development, character and 
historic value, including gardens, roadside banks and verges;

Page 60



 retains and restores, where relevant, traditional features such as shop fronts, 
walls, railings, paved surfaces and street furniture, and improves the condition 
of structures worthy of retention;

 does not harm important views into, out of, or within the Conservation Area;

 protects trees, hedgerows and other significant landscape features and 
incorporates landscaping appropriate to the character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area;

 Results, where relevant, in the removal of unsympathetic features and the 
restoration or reinstatement of missing features.

Demolition in Conservation Areas

Within conservation areas, permission for development involving demolition or 
substantial demolition will not be granted unless it can be demonstrated that:

 the structure to be demolished makes no significant contribution to the 
special character or appearance of the area;

 it can be demonstrated that the structure is wholly beyond repair or 
incapable of beneficial use;

 it can be demonstrated that the removal of the structure and its subsequent 
replacement with a new building and/or open space would enhance the 
conservation area.

Permission will not be granted for development outside of but near to a conservation 
area which adversely affects the setting, character, appearance of or views in to and 
out of that conservation area.

MM43 Paragraph 
9.10

96
9.10     This policy will require that all new housing development complies with the 
guidance in the Watford Residential Design Guide and in particular that it complies 
with the nationally described space standard which is presented in a revision to the 
Residential Design Guide.  In certain circumstances the Nationally Described Space 

Changes are agreed with St 
William.

Page 61



Standard may be applied with some flexibility.  These circumstances are where :

 The internal space guidelines are exceeded for nearly all the proposed units 
in a scheme; and/or 

 The building being converted is a constrained heritage asset and the design 
accords with objectives of Policy UD1: Delivering High Quality Design

GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE
MM44 Paras 

10.1
98 Green Infrastructure refers to a network of multifunctional green space, both new 

and existing, rural and urban, which supports the natural and ecological processes 
and is integral to the health and quality of life of sustainable communities. It provides 
landscape, wildlife, recreation, sport, local food production, ecosystems services and 
cultural experiences and can play a key role in adapting to and mitigating the effects 
of climate change.

HCC requested that these 
insertions are made

MM45 Paras 
10.3

98 The policy is needed to ensure the adequate protection of the trees, woodlands and 
hedgerows within the borough.  Watford is essentially an urban area but does 
contain significant and high quality areas of green infrastructure which contain trees, 
woodland and hedgerows. In addition, the borough contains many trees in gardens 
and on streets, all of which play an important role for amenity and human and 
animal welfare by providing breathing space within the urban area and valuable 
habitats which includes ecological networks and green corridors.

Clarification requested by HCC

MM46 Paras 
10.6

99 The loss of trees due to development does result in impacts on biodiversity and the 
loss of amenity value in the short term. Where redevelopment of a site involves the 
loss of trees the developer will be expected to replace those trees with new ones and 
where there are significant losses replacement will be at a level of two new trees for 
every one lost. 

Clarification requested by HCC

MM47 Paras 
10.11

101 The policy is intended to ensure that all development adjacent to the canal respects 
its character, setting, ecological and heritage value as well as having regard to 
improving and enhancing views along and from the canal. Development including 
environmental improvements to the canal's appearance will need to include 
enhancement of its historic and biodiversity value and should include measures to 
improve biodiversity value along the canal corridor. Adverse impacts on biodiversity 

Clarification requested by HCC

Page 62



will be resisted unless suitable mitigation or compensation is demonstrated.
MM48 Policy GI7 Development affecting within/adjacent or close to a nearby river or watercourse will 

be expected to conserve and enhance the biodiversity, landscape and amenity 
recreational value of the river or watercourse and its corridor through good design, 
and to have regard to historic interest.  Improvements to the water environment and 
water ecology should be made to contribute to the achievement of the Water 
Framework Directive, including restoration and enhancement of marginal, bankside 
and floodplain habitat where appropriate as well as in stream, aquatic habitats or 
other mitigation measures in consultation with the Environment  Agency.  The siting 
of lighting will need to be carefully considered in order to ensure that there are no 
adverse impacts on biodiversity. Where on site improvements are impossible In 
exceptional circumstances where onsite improvements are clearly not possible, this 
must be fully demonstrated and agreed to the satisfaction of the council. In this 
circumstance, financial or land contributions towards the restoration of rivers or 
watercourses and improvements to their health and resilience will be required.

Applicants should demonstrate that they have taken account of the Thames River 
Basin Management Plan, the Colne Catchment Management Plan and any other 
relevant river management and restoration plans. 

Opportunities for deculverting should be taken wherever possible and new culverts 
will not be permitted.

Development close to Tthe River Colne, The Gade or The Waterfields Way Ditch 
(defined by DEFRA as main rivers) should be set back by at least 8m from the top of 
the bank, which is defined as the point at which the bank meets the level of the 
surrounding land.  Development should be set back at least 5m from the top of the 
bank of any other watercourse or pond to ensure acceptable flood flow routes are 
maintained, to allow access and to provide a corridor for wildlife and biodiversity.  In 
terms of setting, large buildings should not be closer to the river than their height.

The removal of redundant structures (as identified by the Thames Basin 
Management Plan) within water channels is encouraged required except where they 

Wording changes requested 
by the Environment Agency 
and HCC and for clarification

Page 63



are not of particular historic interest. Replacement structures are discouraged and if 
required must ensure they allow adequate fish passage.
  
Wherever appropriate, public access to the river or watercourse should be 
maintained or provided.  This access should be designed to allow access for all users 
in a way which respects ecological value.

MM49 Table 105 Add to the Other Local Policies line: 

Watford and Herts Wide Green Infrastructure Plan: 

HCC asked that this document 
is included in the section.

MM50 Table 105 These this policy policies supports/delivers The same table is relevant to 
both GI6 and GI7.

MM51 Paras 
10.36

109 The Council will also seek contributions towards the enhancement of either existing 
natural green spaces and/or to increase the biodiversity of other existing green space 
typologies such as parks and gardens, allotments, community orchards, sports pitch 
sites and other local amenity green space.

HCC has that the definition of 
green infrastructure be 
expanded to include these 
features

MM52 Paras 
10.37 

110 Add heading: Why is this policy needed? For consistency - HCC 
identified that these headings 
were missing

MM53 Para 
10.38 

110 Add heading: What is it intended to do? For consistency - HCC 
identified that these headings 
were missing

MM54 Paras 
10.37

110 10.37 National Policy places importance on minimising the impacts of development 
on biodiversity and seeks a net gain where possible (NPPF paras 109, 117 and 118).  
The Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 and subsequent amendments consolidate 
national legislation to implement the Convention of Europe Wildlife and Natural 
Habitats Directives. In addition, the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 
2006 (England and Wales), identifies the duty on Local Authorities to have regarding 
to biodiversity.  

The Core Strategy policy GI3 sets out the key areas within Watford which have the 
highest biodiversity value and seeks to protect and enhance these areas. In line with 
the aims of the Local Nature Partnership (LNP), the Council also places significant 

Clarification requested by HCC 

Page 64



importance on the Hertfordshire Green Infrastructure Plan and Biodiversity Action 
Plan Principles and the data in the Hertfordshire Environment Records Centre as a 
primary evidence source.

MM55 Paras 
10.39

110 10.39 This policy expects that where appropriate , development proposals will 
demonstrate the relative ecological value of a site before and after development.  
Proposals should follow the mitigation hierarchy and provide clear evidence of 
impacts and enhancements where appropriate, consistent with the aims of the NPPF 
2012, sets out the methods which the Council will use to assess the ecological value 
of a particular site before and after development. The policy requires the use of a 
nationally accepted method which follows BS42020 “Biodiversity – Code of Practice 
for Planning and Development” and guidance provided by CIEEM.  This will require 
sufficient detail and clarity to enable net losses and gains to be identified and 
monitored consistent with the Code. Where unavoidable, biodiversity offsetting 
should be considered as a means to ensure there is no net loss of biodiversity 
resulting from the development. To comply with code requirements an objective 
method for assessment should be used. This can be the DEFRA, Natural England, The 
Environment Bank and Warwickshire County Council - the Biodiversity Impact 
Assessment Calculator or other similar tool e.g. (CIEEM)

HCC Ecology and HMWT asked 
for rewording. 

MM56 Policy 
GI10

111 New development will be permitted provided that it meets the requirements of 
Policy GI3 of the Core Strategy and avoids negative impacts on the natural 
environment including impacts on protected species, designated local wildlife sites, 
Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and green infrastructure/ecological networks 
outside but near the borough boundary. The mitigation hierarchy will be followed 
and effective mitigation should be used to reduce the likelihood of harm arising.  
Compensation will only be considered as a last resort if avoidance and mitigation 
measures are not possible.  Where compensatory measures are needed to address 
impacts on land which is not designated a SSSI but is considered to be of significant 
biodiversity value (this includes designated local wildlife sites, known protected 
species and local ecological networks).  The use of established best practice will be 
expected to evaluate the threats impacts and opportunities provided by all 
development proposals. Ecological information should be presented in accordance 

HCC Ecology, HMWT and 
Natural England all requested 
minor wording changes. The 
wording changes sought to 
satisfy all consultees and the 
final wording was agreed with 
NE.

Page 65



with Any tools used to present the assessment should follow BS42020 “Biodiversity – 
Code of Practice for Planning and Development” or other measures of best practice, 
including Biodiversity offsetting where necessary.

MM57 Para 
10.40

111 Protected and priority species represent a material consideration in planning 
decisions. Where there is a reasonable likelihood of these species being negatively 
impacted by development, an appropriate survey will be required which 
demonstrates that adverse impacts will be avoided, mitigated or as a last resort 
compensated. Any offsetting or gain identified by an assessment of a development , 
and the mitigation, if required, should be clearly demonstrated.     Through the use of 
the calculator referred to in the policy it will be clear whether there is a net loss or 
gain to biodiversity value after a development proposal has been implemented; 
scores which show a positive value at the end of process will show a net gain to the 
habitat and those which show a negative value will show a net loss to the habitat.   

Reference to the calculator 
had been removed from the 
policy before Publication in 
response to concern from HCC 
but a reference to it remained 
in the supporting text in error.  
Change is for clarity and 
consistency.

TALLER BUILDINGS
MM58 Policy TB1 116 The majority of Watford is characterised by low level residential and other forms of 

development where taller buildings would generally be considered inappropriate.  All 
development needs to be designed in order to respect, reinforce and enhance the 
local character, including historic character, of the area in which it is located and to 
contribute to Watford’s distinctive sense of place and identity as referred to in Policy 
UD1 of the Core Strategy.

Change requested by Historic 
England

MM59 Policy TB2 118 4. Public realm, open space and amenity Correction – number had been 
omitted.

MM60 Policy  
TB2 

118 8. The design should detail a transport strategy for the proposed development to 
include how cycle parking, car parking, cycle permeability and pedestrian 
permeability have been integrated into the proposals overall design….

Clarification requested by HCC

MM61 Appendix 
G

Dimensions:

All parking spaces must have minimum dimensions of 2.4m wide by 4.8m long with a 
minimum distance of area 6m deep in front of the space to allow for manoeuvring in 

Clarification required and HCC 
requested that the dimensions 
of garages and parallel parking 
spaces be clarified. 

Page 66



and out of the space. For parallel spaces minimum dimensions should be 6.0m by 
2.4m with a minimum distance of 4.5m for manoeuvring in and out. All external and 
integral garages must have minimum internal dimensions of 3m wide by 6m 5.5m 
long (per vehicle) with a minimum of area 7m deep in front of the garage to allow for 
manoeuvring in and out of the garage. Any spaces or garages that do not meet these 
minimum dimensions will not be considered as parking accommodation for the 
purposes of Policy T6.

APPENDIX I
MM62 Appendix 

I
The following site allocations schedules provide further information on each site. It 
identifies provides a list of some of the key constraints and development 
considerations, which should be used to inform how the site should be progressed. 
Applications for each site will need to fully account for these considerations when 
preparing any application or development brief. The considerations were developed 
at allocation stage and are not exhaustive but serve only as a guide. It is likely that 
further development considerations will be identified at application stage. Please 
note that the maps and illustrations in this appendix are for illustrative purposes 
only. Please refer to the Policies Map which accompanies the Local Plan Part 2: Site 
Allocations and Development Management Policies.

The council were concerned 
that the development 
considerations were been 
taken as the full list of what 
needs to be considered for 
application. Naturally, this is 
not possible at site allocation 
stage, but rather at 
application stage where full 
site visits are undertaken by 
an application to identify the 
required information. 

MM63 SPA1 Heritage assets The historic environment (conservation areas, listed buildings 
including Little Cassiobury and locally listed buildings) in the town centre needs to be 
carefully considered as part of any proposals. 

HE requested that Historic 
Environment term be used 
and that reference to Little 
Cassiobury is made here.

MM64 SPA2 Design and development along the boundaries will need to be sympathetic to the 
significance and setting of the adjacent following heritage assets: Nascot 
Conservation Area, Grade II listed Benskins House (The Flag Public House), Reeds 
Crescent and other heritage assets within the area including the Old Station House.

Clarification requested by 
Historic England

MM65 SPA 2 Development proposals will need to be in line with the emerging Watford Junction 
Masterplan Development Brief and the SPA objectives requirements of Policy SPA2 in 

Clarification changes 
requested by London Concrete

Page 67



the Core Strategy.

The Orphanage Road rail and The waste   aggregates depot and associated facilities 
(concrete batching plant) within the SPA is safeguarded as identified in Policy SPA2 
and  Hertfordshire County Council's Minerals Plan. This will need to be retained, or a 
comparable facility provided within the local area. on site, which will also be subject 
to safeguarding, or a new comparable facility provided in the local area. Any new 
development in the vicinity of the safeguarded area should not prejudice the existing 
or future use of the safeguarded site and operations.

MM66 SPA3 Consideration will need to be given to the preservation and enhancement of the 
setting of the Square Conservation Area  and an archaeological investigation may be 
required for sites within the SPA

HE requested that this change 
is included

MM67 SPA3 The Lairage Land Local Nature Reserve will be protected from development and a 
phase 1 habitat survey may be required.

HCC provided further 
information regarding ecology 
and it was felt the inclusion of 
this wording to cater for any 
ecological constraints on or 
around this site would be 
helpful.

MM68 SPA 3 Development will focus on the new health campus proposals and the provision of 
high quality housing (next to the Vicarage Road Station) in this SPA to be consistent 
with the SPA objectives in the Core Strategy

TFL requested that reference 
is made to the new station in 
this area. 

MM69 SPA4 Flood risk assessments will be required for specific development areas i.e. the gas 
holder site and the surrounding area, as detailed in the SFRA Level 2 Study this may 
include sustainable drainage approaches and green infrastructure to mitigate against 
flood risk.

This clarification is to satisfy 
the authorities responsible for 
flood risk

MM70 SPA4 Design and development will needs to be sympathetic to the significance and setting 
of the cluster of Grade II listed buildings on Lower High Street  while an appropriate 
scheme of repair and reuse for Grade II* listed Frogmore House will be given 

HE requested that this 
addition is made

Page 68



significant weight include measures to secure the future of Frogmore House 
[Nationally Listed] and protect the setting of locally listed Frogmore Cottages 

MM71 SPA5 Robust pedestrian and cycle linkages are expected to form part of new 
developments, including linkages with North Watford and Watford Junction Train 
Stations

HCC requested that this 
addition is made. “ Train” 
deleted as unnecessary .

MM72 SPA 6 Robust pedestrian and cycle linkages are expected to form part of new development 
in this location, including the retention of the established cycle route through Croxley 
View which needs to connect to the new Cassiobridge Station

HCC requested that this 
addition is made

MM73 MXD1 Initial preliminary risk assessment site investigation required to identify any 
contaminated land and archaeological assessment

HCC and the EA requested 
these two changes to be 
included.

MM74 MXD3 Design and development will needs to be sympathetic to the significance and setting 
of the cluster of Grade II listed buildings on Lower High Street  while an appropriate 
scheme of repair and reuse for Grade II* listed Frogmore House will be given 
significant weight include measures to secure the future of Frogmore House 
[Nationally Listed] and protect the setting of locally listed Frogmore Cottages 

HE requested that this change 
be included

MM75 MXD4 A Preliminary Risk Assessment will be required EA identified that a 
Preliminary Risk Assessment 
will be required.

MM76 R2 Clear pedestrian and cycle connections between the High Street and the site should 
be provided

HCC requested that this 
information be included

Page 69



MM77 R2 Design and development will need to be sympathetic to the significance and setting 
of adjacent  heritage assets. 11-33 The Parade are locally listed buildings and will 
need to be considered as part of new proposals, as well as the adjacent while 
proposals  should preserve and enhance the setting of the adjacent Civic Core 
Conservation Area

HE requested that this 
wording change be included to 
adequately reflect heritage 
assets

MM78 R3 Robust pedestrian and cycle links with the town centre are expected to form part of 
new development in this location

HCC requested that reference 
be made to cycle links in this 
site

MM79 R3 There are listed buildings along the High Street Elevation at Design and development 
will need to be sympathetic to the significance and setting of the adjacent heritage 
assets including  14-16 The Parade and 58 High Street the latter of which need is 
expected to be retained in any redevelopment proposals

HE requested that  this 
wording change is included

MM80 R4 Design and Development will need to be sympathetic to the significance and The 
setting of Grade 1 listed building of St. Marys Church and Grade II* listed [nationally 
listed buildings (Church (grade I), the almshouses and the Elizabeth Fuller Free School 
(grade II)) while proposals should enhance and preserve the and a designated 
conservation area] and surroundings need to be protected as part of any 
redevelopment

HE requested that this 
wording change be included

MM81 R5 Design and development will need to be sympathetic to the significance and setting 
of adjacent heritage assets including the Grade II listed building The protection of 63 
-65 High Street which is expected to be retained is a nationally listed building [Grade 
II] is required particularly the frontage elevation.

HE requested that this 
wording change be included

MM82 H1 Sufficient car and cycle parking for the train station and the site will need to be re-
provided. 

HCC requested that cycle links 
be included for this site

Page 70



MM83 H1 Design and development will need to be sympathetic to the significance and setting 
of the adjacent should not impact on the nearby nationally Grade II listed buildings at 
Bushey Arches railway viaduct and the Oxhey Conservation Are

HE requested that this be 
included

MM84 H2 Greater pedestrian and cycle connectivity with the High Street and the nearby 
stations is required as well as public realm improvements 

HCC requested that cycle links 
be included in this line

MM85 H2 Preliminary archaeological assessment and preliminary risk assessment required for 
this site

EA requested that a 
Preliminary risk assessment be 
included in this site

MM86 H2 A replacement skate park, of at least equivalent size and quality, should be 
provided in an accessible location ahead of this site being developed.  The Sports 
Facilities Strategy includes a site for an improved replacement at Oxhey Park North. 
The skate park will need to be re-provided as part of this scheme to a location that is 
accessible and close to existing transport nodes

Wording agreed with Sport 
England to address their 
concern – to make it clear that 
development would not take 
place without a replacement 
skate park being provided.

MM87 H3 Design and development will need to be sympathetic to the significance and setting 
of the adjacent should not impact on the adjacent Watford Printers Building, the Red 
Lion Public House (locally listed buildings) and the Square Conservation Area. The 
materials and the setting should complement these adjacent historical assets

HE requested that this 
addition be included to 
adequately account for the 
historic environment

MM88 H3 Initial preliminary risk assessment site investigation required to identify any 
contaminated land and archaeological assessment

HCC and the EA requested 
these two changes to be 
included.

MM89 H4 Initial preliminary risk assessment site investigation required to identify any HCC and the EA requested 
these two changes to be 

Page 71



contaminated land and archaeological assessment included.

MM90 H5 Careful design is required to provide suitable road access secure cycle storage and 
pedestrian  and cycle connectivity to the surrounding area

HCC requested that cycle links 
are included in this plan

MM91 H6 Phase 1 Habitat survey to identify any ecological interest to include bat roost 
potential in buildings.

HCC identified further 
information regarding ecology 
and it was felt the inclusion of 
this wording to cater for any 
ecological constraints on or 
around this site.

MM92 H7 Design and development will need to be sympathetic  to the significance and setting 
of the adjacent should seek to complement locally listed buildings [195-199 
Rickmansworth Road] adjacent to the site

HE requested this further 
information

MM93 H9 Design and Development will need to be sympathetic to the significance and setting  
The setting and protection of the Grade II station building [nationally listed] is 
required, with  where a potential complementary non-residential use may be 
possible.

HE requested this further 
information

MM94 H9 Phase 1 Habitat Survey for any of the older buildings on station land to identify any 
ecological interest such as bats or reptiles bat roost potential/ ecological interest.

HCC identified further 
information regarding ecology 
and it was felt the inclusion of 
this wording to cater for any 
ecological constraints on or 
around this site.

MM95 E2 An ecological survey may be required to identify any bat roost potential in some of 
the older buildings on site

HCC identified further 
information regarding ecology 
and it was felt that the 

Page 72



inclusion of this wording 
would cater for ecological 
constraints on site.

MM96 E4 Design and Ddevelopment will need to be sympathetic to the significance and setting 
of the adjacent locally listed buildings in the proximity of the Paramount Industrial 
Estate and the Former Odhams Press Hall (locally listed buildings) will need to be 
designed to protect the integrity of these heritage assets. 

HE requested this further 
information

MM97 E5 Taller buildings will be considered in particular locations in this designation, however 
how these relate to the surrounding low rise residential areas will require a sensitive 
design approach [Skyline Taller Buildings SPD] and public realm improvements

HCC requested that public 
realm improvements be 
mentioned 

MM98 E5 Design and development in this location will need to be sympathetic to the 
significance and setting of the Grade II Benskins House (The Flag Public House) and it 
should be demonstrated a design that any proposals has no adverse effect on 
preserve and enhance conservation areas and the cluster of locally listed and 
nationally buildings on Clarendon Road as well as the Flag Pub which is a Nationally 
Listed Building

HE requested some additions, 
and some of this has been 
included. However, the 
development considerations 
are not exhaustive and are a 
short guide for applicants 
bringing forward a site.

Appendices K and L
MM99 Replace these with the new combined monitoring framework( attached at the end of 

this table)*

To provide a single monitoring 
framework for the Local Plan.

Appendix M
MM100 Appendix L M: Replaced Watford District Plan 2000 Policies To correct title – missing 

word, and to renumber due to 
the change above.

PROPOSED POLICIES MAP
MM101 Remove green infrastructure hatching from 2 areas of land in Hertsmere included in 

error  
(Paddock Road Allotments and Stephenson Way)

This is in order to remove a 
discrepancy whereby land was 
hatched outside the borough 
boundary

MM102 Remove the local and neighbourhood centre hatching from Market Street [numbers Map correction required

Page 73



* Local Plan Part 2: Monitoring Framework

Local Plan Part 2: 
Chapter/Policy

Local Plan Part 2: Proposed 
Indicator 

Existing complementary Core 
Strategy Indicator Monitoring Mechanism

 
Target, if applicable

Chapter  2. Special Policy 
Areas and Mixed Use 
Allocations
Policy SPMX 1: Special 
Policy Areas

Net additional dwellings by

 local authority area

 SPA1 Town centre

 SPA2 Watford Junction
 
 SPA3 Health Campus

  SPA6 Western Gateway 

Total amount of additional 

Reported annually through 
the AMR

SPA1 Town centre – 
development will be 
monitored as a proportion 
of net additional dwellings 
by LA 

SPA2 Watford Junction – 
progress on 1500 homes 
reviewed annually 

SPA3 Health Campus– 
progress  on 500 homes  
reviewed annually 

33-97 and numbers 28-74] and Queens Broadway [all of the Broadway]
MM103 Correct A3 Hub and Primary Retail Frontage designation Map correction required to 

reflect the policy
MM104 Show the safeguarded area on the map of the aggregates depot. London Concrete requested 

that the extent of the 
aggregates depot be shown on 
the map.

Page 74

https://watford.jdi-consult.net/localplan/readdoc.php?docid=14&chapter=3&docelemid=d283#d283
https://watford.jdi-consult.net/localplan/readdoc.php?docid=14&chapter=3&docelemid=d283#d283
https://watford.jdi-consult.net/localplan/readdoc.php?docid=14&chapter=3&docelemid=d283#d283


Local Plan Part 2: 
Chapter/Policy

Local Plan Part 2: Proposed 
Indicator 

Existing complementary Core 
Strategy Indicator Monitoring Mechanism

 
Target, if applicable

employment floorspace 
completed, by type

 in allocated employment 
areas

 in local authority area

 in  SPA1 Town centre
  
 in SPA2 Watford Junction 

 in SPA3 Health Campus
 
 in SPA6 Western Gateway 

Total number of jobs

 In local authority area

 in  SPA1 Town centre  

 in SPA2 Watford Junction 

 in SPA3 Health Campus

 in SPA6 Western Gateway 

Reported annually through 
the AMR

Reported annually through 
the AMR

SPA6 Western Gateway – 
progress on 300 homes 
reviewed annually

Development is monitored 
as a proportion of 
additional employment 
floorspace completed by 
LA

A minimum of 7,000 
additional jobs in local 
authority area between 
2006-2031, expected to be 

Page 75



Local Plan Part 2: 
Chapter/Policy

Local Plan Part 2: Proposed 
Indicator 

Existing complementary Core 
Strategy Indicator Monitoring Mechanism

 
Target, if applicable

delivered within the 
following areas:
SPA1 Town Centre - 3,300 
to 4,200 jobs within the 
wider town centre area (as 
shown in Figure 6)
 
SPA2 Watford Junction – 
1,350 to 2,350 jobs

SPA3 Health Campus – 
1,000 to 1,900 jobs

SPA6 Western Gateway – 
700 to 2,000 jobs in 
Watford Business Park and 
150 retail jobs at Ascot 
Road 

(Allocated employment 
areas outside of the SPAs - 
500  jobs are expected to 
be delivered through the 
reoccupation or 
redevelopment of vacant 
space)

Policy SPMX 2: Mixed Use 
Housing allocations within 
mixed use allocations will 

Reported annually through 
the AMR

Development will be 
monitored

Page 76



Local Plan Part 2: 
Chapter/Policy

Local Plan Part 2: Proposed 
Indicator 

Existing complementary Core 
Strategy Indicator Monitoring Mechanism

 
Target, if applicable

Allocations Policy be monitored for capacity 
and phasing.

Chapter  3. Sustainable 
Development
Policy SD 5: Sustainable 
Design  Requirements

Building for Life Assessments - 
on sites of 10 or more housing 
units

Reported annually through 
the AMR

Trend of scores of 
increasing quality desired

Policy SD 6: Renewable 
Energy Technology

Policy SD 7: Decentralised 
Energy 

Renewable Energy Generation 
- by installed capacity and 
type

Reported annually through 
the AMR

Increasing trend

Policy SD 8: Managing 
Flood Risk and the Water 
Environment

Number of planning 
permissions granted contrary 
to Environment Agency advice 
on flooding and water quality 
grounds

Reported annually through 
the AMR

No planning permissions 
granted contrary to 
Environment Agency advice 
- any objections received 
from the Environment 
Agency to be subsequently 
withdrawn following 
fulfilment of 
recommendations

Policy SD 9: Water 
consumption

Average water consumption  Reported annually through 
the AMR

Reducing trend

Policy SD 10: Waste Percentage of waste 
reused, recycled or 
composted  

Reported annually through 
the AMR

50% by 2020 or as 
amended by Waste 
Strategy

Policy SD 13: Air Quality Air Quality and Air 
Management Areas

Reported annually through 
the AMR

Improvement in quality

Page 77



Local Plan Part 2: 
Chapter/Policy

Local Plan Part 2: Proposed 
Indicator 

Existing complementary Core 
Strategy Indicator Monitoring Mechanism

 
Target, if applicable

Per capita CO2 emissions in LA Reported annually through 
the AMR

Reducing trend

Policy SD 14: Noise Noise Complaints received 
per 1,000 population

Reported annually through 
the AMR

Decreasing trend

Chapter  4. Town and 
Local Centres / Retail
Policy TLC 3: Restriction of 
Non-Retail Uses in 
Primary Retail Frontage

% of retail/non-retail 
use in primary retail 
frontage

Individual planning 
applications

Annual shopping survey 
reported through the AMR

A minimum 60% to be A1 
(of ground floor shop units)

Policy TLC 4: Restriction of 
Non-Retail Uses in the 
Intu Watford (former 
Harlequin Centre and 
Charter Place) 

% of retail/non-retail 
use in INTU Watford 
(former Harlequin 
Centre and Charter 
Place)

Individual planning 
applications

Annual shopping survey 
reported through the AMR

A minimum 90%, to be A1 
(excluding the food court)

Policy TLC 5: Restriction of 
Non-Retail Uses within 
Secondary Retail Frontage 

% of retail/non-retail 
use in secondary retail 
frontage

Individual planning 
applications

Annual shopping survey 
reported through the AMR

No increase in A4/A5

Policy TLC 6: A3 
Restaurant Hub Areas

% of A1 retail and A3 
restaurants & cafes/ non-
retail in A3 hub areas

Individual planning 
applications

Annual shopping survey 

Increase in the percentage 
of A3; no increase in the 
percentage of A4 and A5

Page 78



Local Plan Part 2: 
Chapter/Policy

Local Plan Part 2: Proposed 
Indicator 

Existing complementary Core 
Strategy Indicator Monitoring Mechanism

 
Target, if applicable

reported through the AMR
Policy TLC 7: Restriction of 
Betting and Money 
Shops/ Clusters

Change in the number of 
betting and money shops

Amount of completed retail, 
office and leisure 
development 

 within town centre

 within local authority 
area

Amount of completed retail  
development in 
neighbourhood centres

Individual planning 
applications 

Annual shopping survey 
reported through the 
AMR

Reported annually through 
the AMR

Reported annually through 
the AMR

Development will be 
monitored

Development will be 
monitored in the town 
centre as a proportion of 
development of retail and 
other town centre uses 
within the LA, with 20,000 
sq m gross retail floorspace 
expected to be delivered 
between 2006-2031; 
10,000 sq m net retail 
floorspace   expected to be 
delivered at Charter Place 
in the town centre by 2020 
and net convenience retail 
sales area not exceeding 
2,500 sq m at Ascot Road.  

Development will be 
monitored as a proportion 

Page 79



Local Plan Part 2: 
Chapter/Policy

Local Plan Part 2: Proposed 
Indicator 

Existing complementary Core 
Strategy Indicator Monitoring Mechanism

 
Target, if applicable

of retail development 
within the LA

Policy TLC 10: Public 
Realm Enhancement

Progress update on Planning 
obligations - monies received 
and infrastructure provided

The CIL report is published 
annually and a summary of 
receipts and expenditure is 
reported annually through 
the AMR

Section 106 funded 
schemes and CIL funded 
schemes will be monitored 
against the Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan, which will be 
regularly updated every 
two to three years and the 
requirements of the Core 
Strategy

Policy TLC 11: Restriction 
of Non A1 Use Classes in 
District and Local Centres

% of retail/non-retail use 
(at ground floor level) in 
District and Local Centres

Individual planning 
applications

Annual shopping survey 
reported through the AMR

A minimum 50% of total 
units in each district and 
local centre, to be A1

Policy TLC 12: Community 
Facilities

Access to local facilities in 
neighbourhood centres as per 
Table 5 of Watford’s Local 
Plan Part 1, Core Strategy 

Reported annually through 
the AMR

Development will be 
monitored.  The Council 
will use the distances set 
out in Table 5 as a measure 
of how sustainable a centre 
is and will use this measure 
to assess new proposals for 
services identified on the 
table

Policy TLC 13: Community 
Facilities Site Allocations 

Policy TLC 14: Town 
Centre Retail Site 

Development progress will 
be monitored on allocated 
sites on a site specific basis

Reported annually through 
the AMR

Development will be 
monitored

Page 80



Local Plan Part 2: 
Chapter/Policy

Local Plan Part 2: Proposed 
Indicator 

Existing complementary Core 
Strategy Indicator Monitoring Mechanism

 
Target, if applicable

Allocations

Chapter  5. Housing
Policy HS 5: Conversion 
of Houses in Multiple 
Occupation (HMOs) into 
Flats

Net additional dwellings as 
a result of conversions 
(number of HMOs before 
conversion and number of 
dwellings after conversion)

Individual planning 
applications

Reported annually through 
the AMR

Development will be 
monitored

Policy HS 6: Applications 
for Houses in Multiple 
Occupation (HMOs), self-
contained flats (as block 
HMOs) or Hostels

Number & % of additional 
HMOs as a proportion of 
net additional dwellings  

Individual planning 
applications

Reported annually through 
the AMR

Development will be 
monitored

Policy HS 7: Conversions 
and Subdivision of Family 
Housing

Net additional dwellings as 
a result of conversions 
(number of dwellings 
before conversion and 
number of dwellings after 
conversion)

Individual planning 
applications

Reported annually through 
the AMR

Development will be 
monitored

Policy HS 9: Retention of 
Affordable Housing

Gross/net affordable housing 
completions

Gross affordable housing 
completions as percentage of 
gross housing completions on 
qualifying sites

Reported annually through 
the AMR

Reported annually through 
the AMR

No net loss of affordable 
housing units 

35% affordable housing will 
be sought on major 
applications of 10 
residential units and above 
(or sites of more than 0.5 
ha)

Page 81



Local Plan Part 2: 
Chapter/Policy

Local Plan Part 2: Proposed 
Indicator 

Existing complementary Core 
Strategy Indicator Monitoring Mechanism

 
Target, if applicable

Gross affordable housing 
commitments

Affordable housing mix

Reported annually through 
the AMR

Reported annually through 
the AMR

35% affordable housing will 
be sought on major 
applications of 10 
residential units and above 
(or sites of more than 0.5 
ha)

Target for social rent 20%, 
affordable rent 65%, 
intermediate affordable 
15%.  The council will 
produce further guidance 
on the provision of 
affordable housing in the 
borough. 

Policy HS 10: Garden 
Development

New and converted dwellings 
– on previously developed 
land  

Reported annually through 
the AMR

80% residential 
development on PDL

Policy HS11: Older 
Persons’ and Specialist 
Housing

Additional care 
homes/bedrooms will be 
monitored 

Reported annually through 
the AMR

Development will be 
monitored

Policy HS12: Housing 
Delivery

Housing allocations will be 
monitored for capacity 
and phasing.

Housing trajectory data – plan 
period and housing targets; net 
additional dwellings for past, 
current and future years of 

Reported annually through 
the AMR

A minimum of 6,500 homes 
2006-2031, average 260 
p.a.
Maintaining minimum 

Page 82



Local Plan Part 2: 
Chapter/Policy

Local Plan Part 2: Proposed 
Indicator 

Existing complementary Core 
Strategy Indicator Monitoring Mechanism

 
Target, if applicable

plan period to illustrate the 
expected rate of housing 
delivery for both market and 
affordable housing;  the five 
year housing supply; managed 
delivery target

Net additional dwellings by 
size, market or affordable 
tenure and type

Housing density

Reported annually through 
the AMR

Reported annually through 
the AMR

105% 5 year housing 
supply

Will be as per the 
Residential Design Guide & 
Character of the Area 
Study

Will be as per the 
Residential Design Guide & 
Character of the Area 
Study

Policy GT 1: Gypsy and 
Traveller Provision

Net additional pitches (Gypsy 
and Traveller)

Reported annually through 
the AMR

20 additional Gypsy and 
Traveller pitches by 2021.  
No specific target for 
transit and show people 
sites - development will be 
monitored

Chapter  6. Economic 
Development and 
Employment

Page 83



Local Plan Part 2: 
Chapter/Policy

Local Plan Part 2: Proposed 
Indicator 

Existing complementary Core 
Strategy Indicator Monitoring Mechanism

 
Target, if applicable

Policy EMP 3: Designated 
Employment Areas
 
Policy EMP 4: Change of 
use from B Class outside 
of designated 
employment areas

Total amount of additional 
employment floorspace 
completed, by type

 in allocated employment 
areas

 in local authority area

 in  SPA1 Town centre
  
 in SPA2 Watford Junction 

 in SPA3 Health Campus
 
 in SPA6 Western Gateway

Employment land available by 
type - where planning 
permission granted but not 
yet implemented

 in allocated employment 
areas

 in local authority area

Reported annually through 
the AMR

Reported annually through 
the AMR

Development will be 
monitored as a proportion 
of additional employment 
floorspace completed by 
LA

Availability will be 
monitored to ensure an 
ongoing supply 

Page 84



Local Plan Part 2: 
Chapter/Policy

Local Plan Part 2: Proposed 
Indicator 

Existing complementary Core 
Strategy Indicator Monitoring Mechanism

 
Target, if applicable

Total amount of employment 
floorspace on previously 
developed land (PDL) – by 
type 

 GCSE and Equiv. results

Qualifications of working age 
pop.

Reported annually through 
the AMR

Reported annually through 
the AMR

Reported annually through 
the AMR

90% of employment 
floorspace completed on 
PDL

Increasing trend

Increasing trend
Policy EMP 5: Clarendon 
Road, Station Road and 
Bridle Path Office Area

Office floorspace 
completed (including 
gains, losses) in the 
Clarendon Road and Bridle 
Path office area (proposed 
Employment Area E5)

Individual planning 
applications

Reported annually through 
the AMR

Net gain in office 
floorspace 

Chapter  7. Transport
Policy T 6: Car parking 
provision

Policy T 9: Access and 
Servicing

Accessibility – percentage of 
new residential development 
within 400 metres public 
transport time of services/key 
activities 

Amount of completed 
residential development 

Reported annually through 
the AMR

Reported annually through 
the AMR

Development is monitored

Development is  monitored

Page 85



Local Plan Part 2: 
Chapter/Policy

Local Plan Part 2: Proposed 
Indicator 

Existing complementary Core 
Strategy Indicator Monitoring Mechanism

 
Target, if applicable

within UCOs A,B and D 
complying with car-parking 
standards set out in the LDF

Percentage change in total 
vehicle kilometreage on HCC 
roads in Watford 

Travel mode shares

General update on 
development progress on 
major schemes such as the 
Metropolitan Line Extension 
(formerly Croxley Rail Link) 
and Watford Junction

Reported annually through 
the AMR

Reported annually through 
the AMR

Reported annually through 
the AMR

Change is monitored

Increasing use of cycling, 
walking, public transport 
and reduction in travel by 
car mode desired

Progress of development is 
monitored   

Policy T 7: Car clubs and 
charging points for low 
emission vehicles

Number of new electric 
charging points

Reported annually through 
the AMR Increasing trend

Policy T 8: Cycle parking 
provision

Cycle route usage – number of 
trips and % change

Amount of cycle route 
delivered in Watford

Reported annually through 
the AMR

Reported annually through 
the AMR

Increasing trend

Additional cycle route 
delivered is monitored

Page 86



Local Plan Part 2: 
Chapter/Policy

Local Plan Part 2: Proposed 
Indicator 

Existing complementary Core 
Strategy Indicator Monitoring Mechanism

 
Target, if applicable

Chapter  9. Urban Design 
and the Historic 
Environment
Policy UD 4: The historic 
environment 

Buildings on buildings at risk 
register

Listed buildings demolished

Conservation character area 
appraisals completed

Conservation Area 
Management Plan (adopted 8 
July 2013)

Reported annually through 
the AMR

Reported annually through 
the AMR

Reported annually through 
the AMR

Reported annually through 
the AMR

Decreasing trend desired - 
National Register updated 
every 5 years

To be reviewed annually

Appraisals to be updated 
every five years (original 
target of 100% of all 
appraisals achieved by 
31/3/2012)

Conservation Area 
Management Plan to be 
updated every five years 
(original target of 
‘consultation draft 
document by 2013 
achieved’)

Policy UD 5: Design policy: 
Residential Design Guide 
and optional technical 
housing standards – 
Nationally described 

Building for Life Assessments – 
on sites of 10 or more housing 
units

Reported annually through 
the AMR

Trend of scores of 
increasing quality desired

Page 87



Local Plan Part 2: 
Chapter/Policy

Local Plan Part 2: Proposed 
Indicator 

Existing complementary Core 
Strategy Indicator Monitoring Mechanism

 
Target, if applicable

space standard

Chapter  10. Green 
Infrastructure
Policy GI 5: Trees, 
woodlands and 
hedgerows

Policy GI 10: Managing 
biodiversity in new 
developments

Change in areas of biodiversity 
importance – to show losses 
or additions to biodiversity 
habitat.

In terms of biodiversity any 
Any method that follows 
BS42020 “Biodiversity – Code 
of Practice for Planning and 
Development” and guidance 
provided by CIEEM.  

Reported annually through 
the AMR

No reduction in number 
and area desired 
Development will show net 
gain or as a minimum no 
net loss

Policy GI 6: Protecting and 
enhancing the Grand 
Union Canal

Policy GI 7: Protection and 
restoration of river 
corridors and 
watercourses

River quality in 
Hertfordshire – 
improvement required

Reported annually through 
the AMR

The Water Framework 
Directive sets a target for 
all rivers to have a ‘good’ 
ecological status or 
potential by 2027   

Policy GI 8: Sports 
facilities
 

Policy GI 9: Provision of 
open space and play 
space in residential 

Change (in hectares) of total 
open space 

Amount of eligible open 
spaces managed to Green Flag 
award standard

Reported annually through 
the AMR

Reported annually through 
the AMR

No reduction in quantity or 
quality desired

No reduction desired

Page 88



Local Plan Part 2: 
Chapter/Policy

Local Plan Part 2: Proposed 
Indicator 

Existing complementary Core 
Strategy Indicator Monitoring Mechanism

 
Target, if applicable

development

Policy GI 11: Green belt Maintain the general extent of 
the green belt

Reported annually through 
the AMR

Maintain the general 
extent of the green belt

Page 89





Proposals Map Schedule of Changes from the Watford District Plan 2000 to the Watford Local Plan 
2016-2036

The following schedule identifies changes from the Watford District Plan 2000 Proposals Map to the 
Local Plan 2016-2036 Allocations Map. Both maps have been split into 10 identical tiles to allow 
easier comparison between the two. New allocations as well as those that have not been carried 
forward to the new Local Plan are highlighted below.

Watford District Plan 2000 Proposals Map

Page 91



Local Plan 2016-2036 Allocations Map

1. Wildlife Corridor designation extended along Horseshoe Lane. Additional mixed use site identified 
MXD2 The Brow. Local Centres identified in line with Policy TLC11 Restriction of Non-A1 Use Classes 
in District and Local Centres. Nationally Listed Manor House identified in line with Policy UD4 The 
Historic Environment.

WDP2000 Housing Sites 8 and 28 not carried forward. Green Belt sites G8 and G9 High Road 
removed from the Green Belt in line with Local Plan Part 1, Core Strategy Policy GI2. 

Page 92



2. Green Infrastructure designation extended to cover the whole Woodside Playing Field site, policy 
GI1. Nationally Listed Church of All Saints and Kytes House identified in line with Policy UD4 The 
Historic Environment. Garston Park parade local centre extended, Policy TLC11. New Local 
Neighbourhood Centre identified at the junction of Horseshoe Lane and St Albans Road/ North 
Orbital Road.

3. New allocation site EMP6 Leavesden Studios Operations – The Island Site identified. Nationally 
Listed Russel’s site identified in line with policy UD4 The Historic Environment.

WDP2000 Housing sites 3 and 16 not carried forward. Green Belt site G10 Ashfields removed in line 
with Local Plan Part 1, Core Strategy Policy GI2.

4. New mixed use site identified at North Watford Facilities in line with Policy MXD1. Dome 
Roundabout Special Policy Area identified SPA5. Housing sites identified at H4 Telephone Exchange, 
First Avenue and H6 Bill Everett Community Centre.

WDP2000 housing site 20 not carried forward. Previously identified area deficient in open space now 
meets the open space criteria. Key development site RA6 now incorporated into the Employment 
Site. 

5. Additional housing sites identified at H8 Garages, The Gossamers and H11 Garages, Bowmans 
Green.

Removed ‘area at risk from flooding’, it is not considered that the local plan map is the appropriate 
place for this information.

6. Cassiobury Drive Local Centre extended to include the public house. Nationally listed buildings 
identified – Garden Cottage, gateway at 42 The Gardens, Cassiobury Court, Watford Boys Grammer 
School, Cassio Bridge Lodge and Metroplitan Station House in line with Policy UD4 The Historic 
Environment. Housing site H9 Watford Station, Cassiobury Park Avenue identified.

WDP2000 housing sites 14 and 27 removed.

7. Housing site H2 Skatepark, Lower Derby Road identified. Special Policy Areas SPA4 and SPA1 Town 
Centre identified. Key Development Site RA7 is now incorporated into SPA1 Town Centre. Key 
Development Site RA6 and Employment Site E5a now incorporated into SPA2 Watford Junction. 
Location of Taller Buildings identified in line with policy TB1. Nationally listed buildings identified in 
line with policy UD4 The Historic Environment.

Page 93



8. Small area of Green Belt (G6) along borough boundary incorporated into EMP3 Designated 
Employment Area. Part of previously identified E1 employment area is now incorporated into mixed 
use site MXD4 Ascot Road. Area of Taller Buildings identified at Ascot Road policy TB1. Special Policy 
Area SPA6 identified. Gypsy and Traveller site removed from the Green Belt (G11 and G12) and 
extended in line with Policy GT1 Gypsy and Traveller Provision. Small area of Green Belt (G7 Clock 
Tower) removed in line with Local Plan Part 1, Core Strategy Policy GI2.

9. Nationally Listed Buildings identified. Housing sites 15, 25, 21 and 2 removed. Housing sites H5 
Builder’s Yard, Queens Avenue, H3 Vicarage Road and H1 Land at Pinner Road identified. 
Regeneration site RA2 redesignated as MXD3 Gas Holder mixed use site which along with RA5 is 
incorporated into special policy area SPA4 Lower High Street. Previously identified E4 employment 
site is now EMP3. Previously identified employment site E2 is now incorporated into newly 
designated SPA3 Health Campus. Watford Heath and The Square conservation areas identified.

10. Oxhey Conservation Area and Watford Heath Conservation area identified. Local centre 
designation includes retail units on the junction of Villiers Road and Upper Paddock Road.

Page 94



Page 95





Page 97





 

PART A

Report to: Cabinet

Date of meeting: 6 March 2017

Report of: Interim Head of Transformation

Title: Installation of telecommunications equipment on council-owned 
buildings.

1.0 Summary

1.1 On the 19 July 2000, the Council agreed to remove delegated powers allowing heads 
of service to authorise telecommunications equipment being installed on council-
owned land or property.  Since this decision was made, further research has been 
carried out concerning the relationship between telecommunications equipment 
and health.

1.2 As part of the Watford 2020 programme, two projects have been identified that 
require telecommunications equipment to be installed on council-owned property.  
These projects are described in this report and support the Council’s priorities to 
“Deliver a digital Watford to empower our community” and “Champion smart 
growth and economic prosperity”.

2.0 Recommendations

2.1 That the Deputy Managing Director and the Head of Service Transformation be given 
delegated authority to authorise the installation of telecommunications equipment 
on council owned property.

Contact Officer:
For further information on this report please contact:  Richard Quayle, Interim 
Head of Transformation
 
Telephone extension: 8124 email: Richard.quayle@watford.gov.uk

Page 99

Agenda Item 7



 

3.0 Detailed proposal

3.1 Background

3.2 Following a recommendation of the Development Control Committee on the 11 April 
2000, a Telecommunications Mast Scrutiny Panel was formed.  The Panel reviewed 
various research surrounding telecommunication transmitters, including a summary of 
the Stewart report published 11 May 2000.

3.3 The Telecommunications Mast Scrutiny Panel recommended that the Council adopt a 
precautionary approach.  On the 19 July 2000, Council agreed the Panel 
recommendation that “the relevant delegated powers allowing heads of service to 
agree to telecommunications being installed on council-owned land or property be 
rescinded”. 

3.4 Subsequent to the Stewart report significant research has been carried out relating to 
telecommunication transmitters.  According to reports by the World Health 
Organisation, Public Health England, Health and Safety Executive and others, there is 
no medical or scientific evidence that shows that installations that comply with 
legislation and guidelines can cause harm.  All network operators are legally required 
to comply with the legislation and standards.

3.5 Providing a Digital Infrastructure that supports economic growth, improves service 
delivery and quality of life

3.6 Within its Corporate Plan, the Council has identified five priorities.  These include:
 Deliver a digital Watford to empower our community
 Champion smart growth and economic prosperity

3.7 The Council’s Watford 2020 programme, includes two digital projects that require 
telecommunications equipment to be placed on buildings in order to provide coverage 
across Watford – Roof Top Wireless Business Broadband and A Low Powered Wide 
Area Network.

3.8 Roof Top Wireless Business Broadband

3.9 Anecdotally, many small local businesses report being trapped in a ‘stranglehold’ of 
high cost and poor quality fibre broadband connectivity by major market players.  The 
Council has an opportunity to open up the market to enable new wireless, business 
quality broadband providers to offer commercial services locally, boosting competition 
and business consumer choice. This would be achieved through rental of rooftop space 
on Council and Housing Trust owned tall buildings to enable high capacity wireless 
broadband infrastructure to be installed. This would be offered at standard market 
rates, supported by standard property asset rental leases and on a non-exclusive basis. 

Page 100



 

This would not be subject to code powers (Electronic Communications Code 
Conditions and Restrictions Regulation 2003), so there would be no risk of obligation 
to site infrastructure.  Soft market testing has been carried out, and discussions are 
taking place with potential partners.

3.10 A Low Powered Wide Area Network 

3.11 Over the last few years there has been an emergence of smart cities that use 
technology to integrate and manage citywide infrastructure.  Central to being able to 
deliver such a vision is the requirement to enable devices to effectively communicate 
with each other, for example – public bins being able to communicate when they are 
nearly full or parking sensors communicating the availability of parking spaces.  This 
project will work with Digital Catapult (a government funded organisation supporting 
the economy by opening up opportunities for businesses to access new and emerging 
technologies) to provide a LoRaWAN wireless network across Watford.  LoRaWAN is a 
Low Power Wide Area Network (LPWAN) specification intended for wireless battery 
operated devices in a regional, national or global network. LoRaWAN is an open 
standard which already has a committed and growing user base of more than 500 
software, hardware or operator companies.

4.0 Implications

4.1 Financial

4.1.1 The Shared Director of Finance comments that there are no financial implications in 
this report.

4.2 Legal Issues (Monitoring Officer)

4.2.1 The Head of Democracy and Governance comments that even though Council 
rescinded the delegated powers this was before the elected mayor and cabinet model 
of governance was adopted by Watford. This function is now an executive function and 
does not need to be approved by Council.

Any authorisation will have to have regard to any third parties rights in relation to the 
property in question.

4.3 Equalities/Human Rights

4.3.1 Not applicable in relation to this item as this report is requesting delegated authority 
to install telecommunications equipment.  Any proposals for using the infrastructure 
that affect service delivery will require a business case that considers any impact on 
equalities.

Page 101



 

4.3 Potential Risks

4.3.1 No risks identified associated with providing the delegated authority.  The projects are 
being managed using the Council’s project management framework and report to the 
corporate Programme Management Board.

4.4 Staffing

4.4.1 There are no staffing implications from this report.

4.5 Accommodation

4.5.1 There are no accommodation implications from this report.

4.6 Community Safety/Crime and Disorder

4.6.1 There are no community safety implications from this report.

4.7 Sustainability

4.8.1 There are no sustainability implications from this report.

Appendices
No appendices

 
Background Papers

 Mobile Telecommunications and Health Research programme Report 2007 - 
http://www.mthr.org.uk/documents/MTHR_report_2007.pdf

 Mobile phone base stations: radio waves and health - 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/mobile-phone-base-stations-
radio-waves-and-health

File Reference
None

Page 102

http://www.mthr.org.uk/documents/MTHR_report_2007.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/mobile-phone-base-stations-radio-waves-and-health
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/mobile-phone-base-stations-radio-waves-and-health


 

PART A

Report to: Cabinet

Date of meeting: 6 March 2017

Report of: Committee and Scrutiny Support Officer

Title: Neighbourhood Forums – follow up to Cabinet discussions on 5 
December 2016

1.0 Summary

1.1 Cabinet considered the recommendations of the Neighbourhood Forum Task Group 
at its meeting on 5 December 2016.  

1.2 At that meeting it was agreed that the Mayor would convene a small working group 
to consider the task group’s recommendations in more detail.  The working group 
comprised the Mayor, Councillor Collett, and the Head of Democracy and 
Governance, together with the chair of the Neighbourhood Forum Task Group, 
Councillor Cavinder.

1.3 The working group met on 23 January 2017.  This report outlines the working group’s 
conclusions and seeks Cabinet’s agreement to the Neighbourhood Forum Task 
Group’s amended recommendations.

2.0 Recommendations

2.1 Cabinet is asked to approve the Neighbourhood Forum Task Group’s 
recommendations as amended by the working group:

General 

1. Continue Neighbourhood Forum funds and increase the amount to £3,000 per 
ward with effect from May 2018.

  
2. Focus future funding on local organisations and charities promoting grass 

roots groups and activities, rather than larger national charities with other 
funding streams at their disposal.

3. Rename “Neighbourhood Forums”, “Neighbourhood Locality Funds”.

4. Relaunch the funds using the Council’s communications team, providing links 
to all relevant information on the Council’s website including contact details 

Page 103

Agenda Item 8



 

for the appropriate ward councillors.

Guidelines

1. To approve the revised guidelines and protocol attached as appendices 3 and  
4 clarifying:

o how often recipients can receive funding (normally not more than once 
a year, however the type of project, rather than the organisation, 
should be the guide)

o proportionality criteria (including guidance stating that funds should 
not be used to subsidise the activities of larger, formal charities, nor for 
individuals) 

o declaration of members’ interests

o expenditure during the purdah period

o rules regarding donations to groups organising treats and outings

o retrospective expenditure.

Process

1. Require all three ward councillors to formally agree funding proposals before 
being submitted to the Head of Democracy and Governance for approval 
(unless one on them has a conflict of interest) when a minimum of two must 
agree. 

2. Officers to investigate the possibility of allowing Neighbourhood Forum funds 
to be carried over to the next financial year.  Projects would need to be 
justified on a case by case basis.

Value for money

1. Encourage wards to minimise their administration costs for meetings in order 
to seek the most cost effective means e.g., utilising the Council’s 
communications team and social media options, particularly in regard to 
advertising meetings.

2. Require recipients to complete a feedback questionnaire on their completed 
projects.  Any funds not used for the specific purpose granted should be 
returned to Watford Borough Council.  Any questionnaire should include an 
assessment by ward councillors about whether such events or organisations 

Page 104



 

should be considered again in the future.

Contact Officer:
For further information on this report please contact: Ishbel Morren, Committee 
and Scrutiny Support Officer
telephone extension: 8375 email: ishbel.morren@gmail.com

Report approved by: Carol Chen, Head of Democracy and Governance

3.0 Detailed proposal

3.1 In February 2016, the Head of Democracy and Governance, in conjunction with the 
Mayor, submitted a scrutiny proposal requesting a review of the Neighbourhood 
Forums, including the funding criteria.

3.2 A cross-party task group was convened comprising Councillors Cavinder (elected 
Chair), Hastrick, Joynes, Martins and Mills.  It met on three occasions between July and 
September 2016.  As part of the review, the views of all members were canvassed 
using a survey.  Feedback from the survey helped inform the task group’s 
recommendations.

3.3 The report and recommendations of the task group were considered by Cabinet at its 
meeting on 5 December 2016.

3.4 Cabinet members welcomed the task group’s report, which had addressed a number 
of fundamental issues and concluded some useful recommendations (attached at 
Appendix 1).  However they had reservations about some of the recommendations, 
particularly the proposal to pool funds at a certain point in the year, and the guidance 
for councillors concerning information required in the processing and completion of 
funding applications.  

3.5 In order to progress discussions, Cabinet agreed that a small working group made up 
of the Mayor, the Portfolio Holder for Community, Councillor Collett, and the Head of 
Democracy and Governance, together with the chair of the Neighbourhood Forum 
Task Group, Councillor Cavinder, should meet to consider the task group’s 
recommendations in more detail.

3.6 The working group met on 23 January (a note of the discussions is attached at 
Appendix 2).  Looking at the task group’s recommendations, the working group made a 
number of amendments and clarifications.  These sought to reflect the views 
expressed by Cabinet and to ensure that the funds remained focussed on local 
organisations promoting grass roots groups and activities.  

3.7 The working group suggested some changes to the task group’s proposals:

Page 105

mailto:ishbel.morren@gmail.com


 

 additional clarification was required in the guidelines regarding:

o expenditure during the purdah period

o rules regarding donations to groups organising treats and outings

o retrospective expenditure

 Both the guidelines and the protocol have been reviewed and are attached as 
appendices 3 and 4 for approval

 funds should not be used to subsidise the activities of large, formal charities.  
Nor should they be used to fund individuals

 all three ward councillors should formally agree funding proposals before being 
submitted to the Head of Democracy and Governance for approval (under 
current rules, only two signatures are required)

 removal of the proposal to pool funds after a certain date.  Instead officers 
should investigate the possibility of allowing Neighbourhood Forum funds to be 
carried over to the next financial year.  Projects would need to be justified on a 
case by case basis and wards would be encouraged to spend their funds in the 
current financial year

 ward councillors should continue to complete, and be the contact point for, 
Neighbourhood Forum applications, rather than requiring recipients to apply for 
funds directly

 feedback questionnaires should include an assessment by ward councillors 
about whether such events or organisations should be considered again in the 
future.

3.8 A complete list of the revised recommendations is reproduced in paragraph 2.1 above 
for Cabinet’s approval.

4.0 Implications

4.1 Financial

4.1.1 The Head of Finance (shared services) comments that the increase in funds proposed 
in December takes effect from 2018 – this will need to be a growth bid in the 2018/19 
budget setting process.

Page 106



 

4.2 Legal Issues (Monitoring Officer)

4.2.1 The Head of Democracy and Governance comments that the legal implications are 
contained within the body of the report.

4.3 Equalities

4.3.1 Councillors are reminded that any venues used for meetings need to be accessible for
all residents.

Appendices

 Appendix 1 – Recommendations of the Neighbourhood Forum Task Group 
 Appendix 2 – Working Group on the Recommendation of the Neighbourhood 

Forum Task Group: Agreed Actions
 Appendix 3 – Guidance on Use of Funds
 Appendix 4 – Neighbourhood Locality Fund Protocol
 Appendix A – Project form
 Appendix B – Meeting form
 Appendix C – Feedback questionnaire

 
Background Papers

No additional papers were used in the preparation of this report.

File Reference

None.

Page 107





Appendix 1

Proposed recommendations to present to Overview and Scrutiny Committee

General 

1. Continue Neighbourhood Forum funds and increase the amount to £3,000 per 
ward.

2. Focus future funding on local organisations, groups and charities.

3. Rename “Neighbourhood Forums” to “Neighbourhood Locality Funds”.

4. Relaunch the funds using the Council’s communications team, providing links 
to all relevant forms and information on the Council’s website. 

Guidelines

1. The Head of Democracy and Governance to review guidelines to clarify:

o how often recipients can receive funding (normally not more than once 
a year, however the type of project, rather than the organisation, 
should be the guide)

o proportionality criteria 

o declaration of members’ interests.

Process

1. Officers to investigate the feasibility of allocating money to individual wards to 
spend by a given date, e.g., mid-December.  After this point, any remaining 
funds should be pooled so that all wards can bid for the available funds.  At 
the end of the year, any remaining money in this pool should be allocated to 
the chairman’s chosen charities.

2. Officers to look into the feasibility of requiring recipients to apply for funds 
directly, preferably using online forms.

Value for money

Page 109



1. Encourage wards to minimise their administration costs for meetings in order 
to seek the most cost effective means, particularly in regard to advertising the 
meetings.

2. Require recipients to complete a feedback questionnaire on their completed 
projects.  Any funds not used for the specific purpose granted should be 
returned to Watford Borough Council.

Page 110



Appendix 2

Working Group on the Recommendations of the 
Neighbourhood Forum Task Group

Agreed actions

23 January 2017

Present: Mayor Dorothy Thornhill
Councillor Karen Collett (Portfolio Holder for Community)
Councillor Stephen Cavinder (Chair of the Task Group)

Also present: Head of Democracy and Governance
Committee and Scrutiny Support Officer (IM)

The working group was convened after the Neighbourhood Forum Task Group’s final 
report was presented to Cabinet on 5 December to consider the proposed 
recommendations in greater detail.

Looking at the recommendations, the working group agreed the following:

General 

 Cabinet would need to approve the proposed increase in the Neighbourhood 
Forum funds to £3,000 per annum.  It was noted that this increase had not 
been included in the 2017/18 budget which was being considered by Council 
on 24 January.

 The focus of Neighbourhood Forum funds should be local organisations 
promoting grass roots groups and activities, rather than larger national 
charities with other funding streams at their disposal. 

 There was strong support for using the council’s communications team and 
publications, for example About Watford, to promote the Neighbourhood 
Forum budgets.  This would enable as wide an audience as possible to learn 
about, and apply for, funds.  Any promotional articles should include contact 
details for the relevant ward councillors.

Page 111



Guidelines

 In addition to the review of the guidelines proposed by the Task Group, 
clarifications should be given on:

o expenditure during the purdah period (see below)
o rules regarding donations to groups organising treats and outings
o retrospective expenditure.

 On the question of proportionality, it was agreed that the funds should not be 
used to subsidise the activities of formal, large charities.  Nor should they be 
used to fund individuals.

Process

 In future, all three ward councillors should formally agree funding proposals 
before being submitted to the Head of Democracy and Governance for 
approval (under current rules, only two signatures are required). 

 There was no support for funds to be pooled after a certain date.  Instead, 
officers should investigate the possibility of allowing Neighbourhood Forum 
funds to be carried over to the next financial year.  This would enable viable 
projects, which could not be arranged within the appropriate timescale, to 
proceed.  However, projects would need to be justified on a case by case basis 
and wards would be encouraged to spend their funds in the current financial 
year.

The working group noted that the Head of Democracy and Governance 
advised ward councillors to spend their Neighbourhood Forum funds prior to 
purdah commencing.  This was to avoid accusations of the inappropriate use 
of public money during the campaigning period.  It was agreed that new 
guidance on this matter should be provided for councillors.

 Ward councillors should continue to complete, and be the contact point for, 
Neighbourhood Forum applications, rather than requiring recipients to apply 
for funds directly.

Value for money

 It was important that wards should seek to minimise administration costs for 
meetings, utilising the Council’s communications team and social media 
options wherever possible.

Page 112



 There was strong support for requiring recipients to provide feedback 
questionnaires on their completed projects.  This should include an 
assessment by ward councillors about whether such events or organisations 
should be considered again in the future.

Page 113





Appendix 3

Neighbourhood Locality Funds – 
guidelines for expenditure of 
community funds

1. Before agreeing a project the following factors need to be considered:

 Is there sufficient budget available? (figures should be checked with 
democratic services)

 Is the project likely to incur any ongoing revenue costs?
 Has the relevant head of service been consulted if appropriate? 
 Is the cost of the project proportionate to the number of people who 

will benefit from it?
 How long will it take for the project to be completed?
 Have appropriate permissions been given if required, e.g., to undertake 

work on private land?
 Does the project support a local organisation, grass roots group or 

activity?
 Funds cannot be used to subsidise the activities of larger charities nor 

to fund an individual.

2. In most cases, all three ward councillors have to agree on a project and either 
sign the form or confirm to democratic services by email that they are happy 
for the project to be funded.  Where a councillor has a conflict of interest in a 
project (see below), two of the three ward councillors must agree to the 
project.

3. Quotes for work must be obtained.  To comply with the council’s purchasing 
requirements, where the value is £2,000 or under, one oral quotation must be 
obtained (confirmed in writing where the total exceeds £500).  Where the 
value exceeds £2,000, three written and meaningful quotations must be 
obtained. 

4. It is acceptable for wards to decide to jointly fund a project if it crosses ward 
boundaries or will benefit the residents of the wards in question.  Also, even if 
that is not the case, but a number of wards are supporting a similar initiative, 
e.g., alley clearing, consideration should be given to aggregating orders with 
other wards, where appropriate, to obtain best value.  Councillors will also be 
required to explain how their project demonstrates value for money.

5. An application must be submitted to democratic services using the relevant 
application form (appendix A).  No work must be commissioned or funds 
committed until approval has been obtained. 

Page 115



Appendix 3

6. The fund cannot be used to support a project that has already taken place.  
The onus is on councillors to return the completed forms to Democratic 
Services in a timely manner to ensure a project can be supported.

7. To comply with the council’s contract procedure rules, all orders need to be 
accompanied by an official order number which means that all orders for 
goods and services must be placed by officers using the electronic 
procurement system

8. Councillors must not make any direct verbal or telephone orders for goods, 
materials or work.

Conflicts of interest

9. Councillors should be aware of the code of conduct when commissioning 
work.

10. A conflict of interest is likely to arise if the councillor, or a member of his/her 
family, is likely to directly benefit from the project to which the money is to be 
spent to a greater extent than any other resident of the ward.

11. It is also likely to arise if the councillor, or a member of his/her family, is on 
the management committee of the body which is the recipient of the funding.

12. In any instance, where a councillor considers that he/she may have a conflict 
of interest, they should notify their fellow ward councillors and declare the 
nature of the interest to the democratic services manager and take no part in 
applying for funding.

Dos and Don’ts

13. In order to ensure that expenditure comes from the current financial year, 
councillors are encouraged to submit all applications for projects by the end of 
February.  No expenditure will be approved after a notice of election has 
been issued in any year and purdah has started.  This is to avoid councillors 
being accused of using their Locality Funds to promote themselves during an 
election.

14. Councillors are encouraged to spend their funds within each financial year.  
Should funds not be spent and a ward has a particular project in mind to fund 
that is likely to take more than their yearly allocation, they can make a request 
to the director of finance to carry forward the unspent funds for that purpose.

Page 116



Appendix 3

15. Financial statements will be completed and forwarded to councillors in April in 
time for the Neighbourhood Locality Fund Annual Report to be presented to 
Annual Council in May.

16. The amount of funds awarded to any particular project needs to be 
proportionate to the number of residents benefiting from the project, i.e. it 
would not be appropriate to spend a large proportion of the funds on a small 
group.

17. Councillors should not consider multiple applications for funding from one 
group.  It is expected that a recipient should only receive funding once a year.  
This is to enable the funds to be spread across more groups.  However if all 
members of the ward consider that a recipient has a worthwhile project that 
they wish to fund and the recipient has already received funding for another 
project then this will be accepted.

18. Funds should not to be spent on:

 Catering (other than refreshments at meetings), as this could be viewed 
as “treating”

 Outings, as this could be viewed as “treating”
 Projects which will involve ongoing revenue costs/maintenance which 

is likely to fall to the council, except where approved by the 
appropriate head of service.  Councillors are advised to make sure that 
when funding a group that the group has sufficient funds to meet any 
ongoing revenue costs/maintenance arising as a result of the project, 
to avoid repeated requests for funding

 Party political purposes
 As a reward
 Cash donations to charities – any spend should be used to fund specific 

projects in the ward
 Larger charities with other funding streams at their disposal
 Individuals.

19. A separate form is available for meetings (appendix B).  This must be 
completed and forwarded to democratic services before arranging 
Neighbourhood Locality meetings.  The form must include the date, time and 
location of the meeting and an approximate cost.  This form should be 
submitted before the meeting and before any costs have been incurred.  
Councillors are reminded that the council’s communication team can help 
with advertising meetings to help minimise expenditure.

20. Whilst it is acceptable to publicise projects in ward leaflets or newsletters, it 
must be made clear that the funding has come from the Neighbourhood 
Locality budget.  It must not be attributed to any political party. 

Page 117



Appendix 3

21. Councillors are required to adhere to the protocol for Neighbourhood Locality 
Funds and the council’s contract procedure rules during each stage of the 
procurement of goods or services.

Feedback 

22. Councillors will be expected to obtain feedback from any organisation that 
they allocate funds to on their completed projects.  A feedback questionnaire 
(appendix C) is available to assist.  Feedback should be used to assess whether 
such events or organisations should be funded in the future, and feedback 
should be used in the Neighbourhood Locality Annual Report. 

Page 118



Appendix 4

Neighbourhood Locality 
Funds - Protocol

The Council will establish 12 Neighbourhood Locality Funds (the Locality 
Fund).

The Area comprising a Locality Fund will be the Local Electoral Ward.

Membership of the Locality Fund will comprise the 3 elected councillors for 
the electoral ward.

Terms of Reference of the Locality Funds

 To engage with local residents, businesses and other community 
groups in their Ward.

 To promote the business of the Council and to undertake as they see fit 
consultation on Ward related matters.

 To manage a budget as allocated from time to time by the Council, for 
the purposes of meeting with residents, businesses and other 
community groups, and facilitating the enhancement the area and 
amenities of those living and working in the Locality Fund area. This 
could include providing grants for community projects, match funding, 
or carrying out small projects. The focus of the fund spend should be 
local organisations promoting grass roots groups and activities, rather 
than larger national charities with other funding streams at their 
disposal.

Calling of Meetings

A meeting may be called by no less than 2 elected councillors for the Locality 
Fund area signing and sending to the Head of Democracy and Governance 
formal notice of the calling of the meeting.

The notice will specify the name of the lead councillor for the purpose of 
organising the meeting and the proposed date, time and venue of the 
meeting, the intended subject matter and the estimated cost. If not signed by 
all 3 elected councillors for the area it will confirm that the third councillor has 
been notified of the intention to call the meeting and the date of that 
notification.

Page 119



Appendix 4

All notices must be given to the Head of Democracy and Governance no less 
than 10 working days before the date of the meeting to allow time for the 
meeting agenda to be published within the timescales under the Local 
Government Access to Information Regulations.

The lead councillor will be responsible for ensuring that any intended officers 
or outside representatives who are deemed necessary to attend the meeting 
are notified of the date and time and what they are expected to do, all 
appropriate publicity for the meeting and for the taking of the minutes of the 
meeting and that any reports are provided to the Head of Democracy and 
Governance for publication with the agenda no later than 7 working days 
before the date of the meeting.

It must be clear on any publicity that the meeting is a meeting organised by 
Watford Borough Council.

The lead councillor will also be responsible for arranging the booking of the 
venue for the meeting and notifying the Head of Democracy and Governance 
who he/she will be receiving an invoice from and the anticipated amount.

The lead councillor will after the meeting supply the Head of Democracy and 
Governance with a copy of the minutes for publication no later than 7 working 
days after the date of the meeting.

All Locality Fund meetings will be open to the public.

It will be for the elected councillors to decide how the business of the meeting 
is conducted.

Budget

Each year Council will allocate a budget to each Locality Fund.

It will be for the elected councillors to decide how the budget is spent subject 
to any specific instructions from Cabinet or Council.

The Head of Democracy and Governance will hold the budget for each Locality 
Fund and will send to each councillor a statement at the beginning of each 
month setting out what has been spent to date, any commitments the Council 
has been notified of affecting the budget and how much budget remains. The 
statement will only reflect items that have been reported to the Council, the 
onus is on councillors to tell the Head of Democracy and Governance as soon 
as practicable all items of expenditure.

Page 120



Appendix 4

Once the allocated budget has been expended no subsequent requests for 
expenditure will be approved and any activities the Locality Fund wishes to 
carry out will be at the expense of the elected councillors. 

Should any money remain unspent at the end of the financial year then it will 
be lost, unless the elected councillors can make a case for a carry forward, 
which will be subject to the approval of the Head of Finance.

Payment for meetings

The lead councillor responsible for making the venue booking will notify the 
owner of the building to send an invoice to the Head of Democracy and 
Governance quoting the name of the Locality Fund and date of the meeting.

On receipt of the invoice the Head of Democracy and Governance will confirm 
with the lead councillor the amount agreed for the hire fee and that the date 
of the hiring is correct.

The Head of Democracy and Governance will then pay the invoice.

Payment for other items

Prior to committing the Council to spending any of their Locality Fund budget 
on items other than meetings the councillors must submit a proforma to the 
Head of Democracy and Governance for approval.

The pro forma must be signed off all of the councillors for the Locality Fund 
area, except where a councillor would have a conflict of interest, in which case 
at least two councillors from the Locality Fund area must approve the 
expenditure.

No project should be instigated if it will lead to the Council incurring ongoing 
revenue costs, unless previously discussed with the relevant Head of Service 
who has agreed that the ongoing revenue expenditure can be met from their 
existing budget.

The proforma will be forwarded to the Head of Service with responsibility for 
the provision of service most affected by the proposal for information, or 
approval where ongoing revenue expenditure is likely to be incurred.

Page 121



Appendix 4

In the latter case the Head of Service will notify both the elected councillors 
and the Head of Democracy and Governance of whether they can commit to 
the ongoing revenue costs within 21 working days of receiving it.

In the case of the project being likely to incur ongoing revenue costs the Head 
of Services decision will be final.  

The Head of Democracy and Governance will raise an order and any invoice 
will be submitted to him/her for payment.

Should any invoice exceed the amount stated in the pro forma by more than 
10% the Head of Finance and the councillors will be notified. If the final cost 
exceeds the amount left in the Locality Fund budget the councillors who 
signed off the pro forma will be required to fund the excess equally from their 
remuneration allowance.

Councillors are advised to discuss any proposed projects with the relevant 
Head of Service at the earliest opportunity to avoid disappointment and 
managing community expectations.

Retrospective applications are not permitted.

The Locality Fund must not be used for party political purposes.

Councillors should have regard to the Code of Conduct for Councillors, in 
particular the provisions relating to conflicts of interests

Please refer to the ‘Neighbourhood Locality Funds – guidelines for 
expenditure of community funds’ for further guidance about using funds for 
projects.

Annual Report

At the last Council meeting of the municipal year, each Locality Fund will 
present a report of its activities of the year, including details of its spending, 
meetings and projects. 

Page 122



Appendix A

Neighbourhood Locality Fund
Project Application Form

1. Name of ward 

2. Name of lead councillor 

3. Project description (provide a brief overview, including dates when it is anticipated the project 
will be undertaken.  Remember retrospective applications will be refused.) 

4. What are the project costs? (provide a breakdown of the costs, including any quotes you have 
obtained and attach these where appropriate – see guidelines)

5. Are sufficient funds available in the budget? (this should be checked with democratic 
services)

Yes 

No 
If there are not sufficient funds how is it intended that the project will be funded? Please provide 
confirmation if you are only providing part funding that the project will proceed or an undertaking 
to return the money if the project is aborted.

6. (a) How does the project demonstrate value for money?

(b) If appropriate, what consideration has been given to aggregating orders with 
other wards to obtain value for money?

7. How will the project engage the community and benefit or enhance the area?

Page 123



Appendix A

8. What proportion of the community will benefit from the project?

9. What consultation has taken place?

10. Are there any risks that need to be taken into consideration? (for example, the project 
will not happen)

11. When will the project be completed? (Note: projects which have already been completed 
will not be funded.)

12. (a) Does the project involve a council department? (if yes, state which one)

(b) If the project involves a council department, has the project been agreed with 
the relevant head of service? (please attach written confirmation)

(c) Will the project, whether council led or not, incur ongoing revenue costs?  If so, 
what are these and how long will the costs continue? (Please attach written confirmation 
that there are budgets in place other than this fund to meet those ongoing costs and that the 
relevant service/beneficiary has agreed to meet those costs.)

Page 124



Appendix A

13. If the expenditure is for goods or services, the council must place the order (provide 
the following details if payment is to be made directly to the organisation)

Name: 

Address: 

Email: 

Telephone number: 

Bank name: 

Sort code: 

Account number: 

14 Has this recipient received funding already this year?

Yes:

No:

If yes please explain why you feel that funds should be given again.

Page 125



Appendix A

15. Taking into account the councillors’ code of conduct, do any of the ward 
councillors have any interest in the project or organisation being supported?

For example, is it an organisation the councillor has been appointed to by the 
council?  Is the councillor on the board of the organisation or a school governor?

Will the councillor or a member of his/her family receive a benefit from the award 
of this money to a greater extent than other residents of the ward.

If unsure please contact democratic services for further advice. If a councillor does 
have such an interest they cannot sign off this request and must take no part in the 
decision to make the payment.

If a councillor with a declared interest signs off this form or acts as lead councillor 
the application will be refused.

Yes (state the councillor’s name)

Reason: 

No 

Page 126



Appendix A
This form must be signed by all three councillors (except where a councillor has declared 
an interest above).  An email from councillors agreeing to the project is acceptable. 
Signing this form indicates that the council’s contract procedure rules and the protocol 
have been followed at all stages of the process.

Councillor 1 

Signature 

Date 

Councillor 2 

Signature 

Date 

Councillor 3 

Signature 

Date 

 

Page 127



Appendix A

Checklist

Councillors (this section must be completed):

Is there enough money in the budget for the project?

Have you completed all sections of the form?

Have you supplied all supporting documents required for the project, 
including copies of quotes?

Have you obtained head of service approval if necessary?

Have all three councillors signed the form agreeing to the project?

If the form has only been completed by two councillors, has the third 
councillor an interest in the project?

Democratic services:

Has the form been completed by all three ward councillors?

Was the form received before the project took place?

Have all other sections of the form been completed?

Has all supporting documentation been supplied?

Has the project been given approval by a head of service / head of 
democracy and governance if required?

Details of purchase orders

To be completed by the head of democracy and governance:

Do you approve or reject the project?

Reasons for approval/rejection:

Signature: 

Date: 

Page 128



Appendix B

Neighbourhood Locality Fund
Notification of Meeting

1. Name of ward 

2. Name of lead councillor 

3. Date and time of meeting 

4. Venue 

5. Purpose of meeting and details of any officers / guests you intend to invite

6. Breakdown of costs (e.g. venue hire, printing costs, delivery)

7. Are sufficient funds available in the budget? (this should be checked with democratic 
services)

Yes 

No 

If no how do you propose to fund the meeting?

Page 129



Appendix B

8. How do you intend to publicise the meeting? (a copy of any notices must be forwarded 
to democratic services) 

9. Please provide payment details of the payees (where applicable – please note that 
invoices should be made out to Watford Borough Council)

Venue

Name: 

Address: 

Email: 

Telephone number: 

Bank name: 

Sort code: 

Account number: 

Delivery

Name: 

Address: 

Email: 

Telephone number: 

Bank name: 

Sort code: 

Account number: 

Page 130



Appendix B

Printing (or please confirm if you intend to use the WBC print department)

Name: 

Address: 

Email: 

Telephone number: 

Bank name: 

Sort code: 

Account number: 

Other (for example minute taker, guest speaker, catering)

Name:

Address:

E-Mail:

Telephone Number:

Bank Name:

Sort code:

Account Number:

This form must be signed by at least two ward councillors

Councillor 1 

Signature 

Date 

Councillor 2 

Signature 

Date 

Councillor 3 

Signature 

Date 

Page 131



Appendix B

 Meeting Checklist

Councillors (this section must be completed):

Is there enough money in the budget for the meeting?

Have you completed all sections of the form?

Have you contacted those officers you wish to attend the meeting?

Have you provided the officer with a short briefing about the topic 
you wish them to discuss?

Have you arranged for someone to take notes of the meeting?

Have at least 2 councillors signed the form agreeing to the meeting?

Please remember that copies of all notices should be sent to democratic services prior to 
their being printed.

Copies of notices and the notes of the meeting should be sent to democratic services for 
publication on the council’s website.

All invoices should be made out to Watford Borough Council and sent to democratic 
services to arrange payment.

Democratic services:

Has the form been completed by at least 2 ward councillors?

Was the form received before the meeting took place?

Have all other sections of the form been completed?

Have copies of the notice(s) been forwarded to democratic 
services?

Has a copy of the notes of the meeting been forwarded to 
democratic services?

Page 132



Appendix C

Neighbourhood Locality Fund 
Project Evaluation Form

Name of ward

Name of lead councillor 

Project description (as per the 
application form)

Project cost

The following section should be completed by the recipient:

What was the purpose of the project or event?

When did the project or event take place?

How many Watford residents benefited from the project or event?

Tick one
Yes

Can you confirm that the whole of the grant was spent on the 
purpose for which it was given: (please be aware that if the answer is No, 
any unspent funds may have to be returned No

If you have answered no to this question, please provide further information: i.e 
how much was spent:

Overall, how well do you feel you achieved your project or event purpose?
Tick one

Very well
Satisfactorily
Not very well

Not at all

Please add any other relevant information or comments:

Page 133



Appendix C

The following section should be completed by the lead ward councillor:

Overall, how would you evaluate this project or event?
Tick one

Very successful 
Satisfactory

Not very successful
Not at all successful

If you scored the project or event not very successful or not at all successful, please 
provide further information to support your evaluation:

Tick one
Yes

Did the project or event represent value for money? 

No

Tick one
Yes

Would you fund an event or project from this applicant in the 
future?  

No

If not, please provide your reasons for this decision:

The information collected in this form will be used by ward councillors to inform future 
funding applications.  It will also be included in the Neighbourhood Locality Fund Annual 
Report, which is presented to Council each year.  

If you have any queries regarding the form, please contact your local ward councillors or the 
democratic services team on legalanddemocratic@watford.gov.uk 

Thank you for your assistance.

Page 134

mailto:legalanddemocratic@watford.gov.uk

	Agenda
	5 Review of Corporate Plan 2020: revised for 2017/18
	Appendix A

	6 Local Plan Part 2 Submission
	Draft Schedule of Watford Borough Council's Proposed Additional Modifications 220217
	Schedule of Changes to Policies Map
	Submission policy map draft
	Submission policy map draft (inset town centre)

	7 Installation of telecommunications equipment on council-owned buildings.
	8 Neighbourhood Forums - follow up to Cabinet discussions on 5 December 2016
	Appendix 1 - original recommendations
	Appendix 2 - working group recommendations
	Appendix 3 - guidelines
	Appendix 4 - protocol
	Appendix A - project form
	Appendix B - meeting form
	Appendix C - feedback questionnaire


